
 
 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 

Date: Monday, 27 June 2022 
Time: 
 

6.00 p.m. 

Venue: Council Chamber, Wallasey Town Hall 

 
 
Contact Officer: Joe D’Henin, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 0151 691 8139 
e-mail: josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

 
This meeting will be webcast at https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

 
AGENDA  
 
1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION  
 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
3. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Members are asked to consider whether they have any disclosable 

pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest. 
 

Please note that public seating is limited, therefore members of the public 
are encouraged to arrive in good time. 
 
Wirral Council is fully committed to equalities and our obligations under The 
Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. If you have any 
adjustments that would help you attend or participate at this meeting, please 
let us know as soon as possible and we would be happy to facilitate where 
possible. Please contact committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk. 
 
The information contained within the appendices below may not be suitable 
to view for people with disabilities, users of assistive technology or mobile 
phone devices. Please contact josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk if you would like 
this document in an accessible format. 
 

Public Document Pack

https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
mailto:committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk
mailto:josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk


4. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4) 
 
 To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 15th 

March 2022. 
 

5. PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS  
 
 Please telephone the Committee Services Officer if you have not 

received an acknowledgement of your question/statement by the 
deadline for submission. 
 

 5.1 Public Questions 
 

  Notice of question to be given in writing or by email by 12 
noon, Thursday 22nd June to the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer (committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk) and to be dealt 
with in accordance with Standing Order 10. 
 

 5.2 Statements and petitions 
 

  Petitions may be presented to the Committee if provided to 
Democratic and Member Services no later than 10 working 
days before the meeting, at the discretion of the Chair. The 
person presenting the petition will be allowed to address the 
meeting briefly (not exceeding three minute) to outline the 
aims of the petition. The Chair will refer the matter to another 
appropriate body of the Council within whose terms of 
reference it falls without discussion, unless a relevant item 
appears elsewhere on the Agenda. If a petition contains more 
than 5,000 signatures, it will be debated at a subsequent 
meeting of Council for up to 15 minutes, at the discretion of 
the Chair. Please give notice of petitions to 
committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk in advance of the meeting. 
 

 5.3 Questions by Members 
 

  Questions by Members to be dealt with in accordance with 
Standing Orders 12.3 to 12.8. 
 
 

6. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE (Pages 5 - 14) 
 
7. ANNUAL ARMC REPORT 2021-22 (Pages 15 - 40) 
 
8. CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITORS ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION 

2021-22 (Pages 41 - 68) 
 
9. CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE (Pages 69 - 80) 
 
10. EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN WIRRAL COUNCIL 2021-22 (Pages 81 - 

114) 
 

mailto:committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk


11. EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND 2021-22 
(Pages 115 - 140) 

 
12. REVIEW  OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES (Pages 141 - 180) 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Tuesday, 15 March 2022

Present: Councillor K Hodson (Chair)

Councillors S Whittingham
D Brennan
K Cannon
S Kelly
J Johnson

D Burgess-Joyce
S Mountney
T Smith
Jason Walsh

49 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION 

The Chair welcomed all people present and informed them that a copy of the 
webcast will be available on the Council’s website for two years.

The Chair invited attendees to join in a minute’s silence to reflect on the 
situation in Ukraine, the lives already lost and the fear and trauma families 
there face, and for the sake of people on all sides caught up in that and the 
many other conflicts across the world.

50 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from independent member Joanne 
Byrne and Councillor Adrian Jones.

51 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were asked to consider whether they had any disclosable pecuniary 
interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection with any items on 
this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state what they were. There were 
no declarations of interests.

52 MINUTES 

Resolved – 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 24 January 2022 be approved.

53 PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS 

There were no questions, statements or petitions received.

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



54 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 

The Chief Internal Auditor presented his report which identified and evaluated 
the performance of the Internal Audit Service and included details of any 
issues arising from the actual work undertaken during the period 1 January to 
28 February 2022. There were no major issues to highlight.

Members asked questions on audit involvement in the change of status of 
Wirral Evolutions. 

Resolved: 
That the report be noted.

55 INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL PLAN - 2022-23 

The Chief Internal Auditor introduced his report which identified the Internal 
Audit Plan of work for 2022-23, with proposed themed areas. The audit 
service worked on a twelve-month cycle but needed to be dynamic and 
flexible to allow for significant changes and the plan had that built in, with 
emphasis on themes, reflecting best auditing practice. There would be 
engagement with chief officers and Members to ensure new risks were 
captured and considered. 

Members were interested in seeing more detail on the prioritisation and 
timescales and that was to be provided outside of the meeting with regular 
updates included in reports to future meetings. It was noted that there were 
several networks of peers who were utilised to ensure best practice was 
followed and relevant new risks were identified. In questions about the 
Council and Pension Fund’s involvement with Russia and the national 
Government’s sanctions following the invasion of Ukraine, it was clarified that 
the Pension Fund had 0.25% invested with Russia and the Council was 
looking at its own contracts to uncover any links. A further update on this was 
to be provided to the next meeting.

Resolved – 
That the work proposed in the Internal Audit Plan for 2022-23 in 
accordance with the terms of reference for the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee be endorsed.

56 CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 

The Risk, Continuity and Compliance Manager presented the report of the 
Director of Resources which provided an update on the Council’s risk 
management arrangements and areas of risk management focus over the 
following year. There had been an event for senior officers to consider the 
existing corporate risks, if or how they were aligned with the Wirral Plan and 
to foresee any new risks that may emerge. It also considered the potential 

Page 2



opportunities that could arise. It had been acknowledged that there was a 
changing external environment – learning to live with the Covid-19 virus, 
dealing with the effects of the invasion of Ukraine and the threat of cyber-
attacks. 

Resolved – 
That the report be noted.

57 EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 

The Senior Audit Manager at Grant Thornton presented the report of the 
Director of Resources which provided a progress update on the work being 
undertaken by the external auditor, Grant Thornton. The report also included 
a sector update which provided a summary of emerging national issues. It 
was noted that the financial audit for 2020/2021 was not yet fully complete in 
common with other Councils as a required toolkit was not yet available, 
although the auditor’s opinion had been unqualified. The timescale for the 
2021/2022 audit was given. 

Members queried the timescales for clarification and noted that many 
Councils were suffering financially.

Resolved – 
That the update provided by the Council’s external auditors be noted.

58 INFORMATION GOVERNANCE UPDATE 

The Archives and Records Manager presented the report of the Director of 
Resources which provided an update on the work to sustain and deliver 
effective Information Management, relating to Information Governance across 
the Council. This work aimed to reduce the risk of reputational damage and 
monetary penalties but also the need for paper records management. The 
report also highlighted areas of Information Governance work scheduled for 
the coming year. There had been an increase in reporting of incidents 
although following investigation no further action had been required on any.

Members questioned the policies which clarified:
 That it was the Data Protection Officer who decided whether to send 

issues to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) although there 
were monthly meetings of the Information Security Board to discuss 
incidents

 There were no recorded whistleblowing incidents in the period
 The policy for paper records is that none are to be taken home but can 

be digitised for viewing away from the office
 The ICO can overrule decisions by the Council on whether data can be 

released.

Page 3



Resolved – 
That the report be noted.

Page 4



 

 

 

  

 

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
MONDAY 27 JUNE 2022 
 

REPORT TITLE: INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 

REPORT OF: CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITOR 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 

This report identifies and evaluates the performance of the Internal Audit Service and 

includes details of any issues arising from the actual work undertaken during the period 

1st March to 31st May 2022. There are a number of items of note concerning audit work 

undertaken that are brought to the attention of the Members for this period and these are 

identified in the appendix to this report. 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is recommended to note the report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



 

 

    SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

1.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION 

1.1  To provide the Members with assurance that the Council is taking appropriate 

measures to ensure that the control environment is effective and to comply with 

statutory requirements to provide an adequate and effective internal audit service. 

1.2 To ensure that risks to the Council are managed effectively. 

1.3  To ensure that the Council complies with best practice guidance identified by the  

Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountants (CIPFA) and the Chartered 

Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA). 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED  

2.1 No other options considered appropriate as the service is required to comply with the 

very specific requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards for delivery 

and reporting frequency. 

3.0 BACKGROUND AND AUDIT OUTPUT 

3.1  Internal Audit operate an effective reporting mechanism for Members of the Audit 

and Risk Management Committee that summarises audit work completed and 

identifies issues raised on timely basis. This report supports these arrangements 

by focussing on the following: 

• Any items of note arising from audit work conducted,  

• Any issues arising that require actions to be taken by Members, 

• Performance information relating to the Internal Audit Service, 

• Developments being undertaken to improve the effectiveness of the Internal 

Audit Service.  

The information contained within this report is for the period 1st March to 31 May 

2022. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

4.1  There are none arising from this report. 

 

5.0  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

  

5.1 There are none arising from this report. 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS  

6.1      There are none arising from this report. 

Page 6



 

 

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  

7.1  Appropriate actions are not taken by officers and Members in response to the 
identification of risks to the achievement of the Council’s objectives. This is mitigated 
by a robust system of follow up, reporting and escalation of audit matters. 

 
7.2  Potential failure of the Audit and Risk Management Committee to comply with best 

professional practice and thereby not function in an efficient and effective manner. 
This is mitigated by comprehensive governance and reporting systems developed 
and implemented in compliance with relevant professional standards. 

 
8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1  Members of this Committee are consulted throughout the process of delivering the 

Internal Audit Plan and the content of this regular routine report. 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 The content and/or recommendations contained within this report have no direct 
implications for equality. However, the delivery of an effective internal audit service 
will assist in ensuring that the Council, its finances, and service provision are 
effectively managed and governed aiding the advancement of equality. 

 
10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 

 

10.1  The content and/or recommendations contained within this report are expected to 
have no impact on emissions of CO2/greenhouse gases.  

 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The content and/or recommendations contained within this report have no direct 

implications for community wealth. However, the delivery of an effective internal 
audit service will assist in ensuring that the Council, its finances, and service 
provision are effectively managed and governed aiding the advancement of 
economic, social and environmental justice for all residents. 

 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: 

  Mark P Niblock 
     Chief Internal Auditor 
     telephone: 0151 666 3432 
     email: markniblock@wirral.gov.uk 
APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1:  Activity Summary March to May 2022  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 

 

Page 7



 

 

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

 

Council Meeting  Date 

Audit and Risk Management Committee  Routine report presented 

to all meetings of this 

Committee. 

 

 

Page 8



 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 

REPORT TITLE: INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 

ACTIVITY SUMMARY – MARCH TO MAY 2022 

 
1 Items of Note  

1.1 New Town Deal  
 

During the period Internal Audit have had a key role in providing an overview of each 
of the ten business cases that have been completed for the projects within the 
overall Town Deal programme, that will factor in £25million through the Council as 
the Accountable Body over the next few years. The DLUHC requires the Council’s 
assurance processes to have been applied to these business cases prior to final 
agreement and release of funds, and the work performed on the business cases will 
also act as vital background to compiling an internal audit report on the necessary 
control and monitoring framework to be applied by Council officers regarding the 
Town Deal programme in the future. Outcomes from this work on the control and 
monitoring framework and systems will be reported to this Committee upon 
completion. 

 
1.2 Climate Emergency  
 

An audit was undertaken during the period to evaluate effectiveness of the Council 
arrangements to deliver this important initiative and ensure compliance with 
regulatory requirements and an internal audit report on this was finalised and 
distributed to senior management in early June 22. The outcome of the audit was 
that while it is clear that progress has been made over the last year in this area, 
there are a number of recommendations that need to be implemented to ensure 
ongoing processes are strengthened and momentum is maintained. There were four 
high priority recommendations made, and at the conclusion of the audit it was clear 
that action was being taken in each of these operational areas to address the 
recommendations. The follow up of the recommendations is planned as a priority 
task for October 22, when it is expected that clear evidence will be provided to 
demonstrate compliance with agreed actions. 

 
1.3 Client Finance Banking Project     
 

Internal Audit have been providing an ongoing consultancy role on the working party 
coordinating the transfer of the bank accounts of vulnerable clients whom the 
Council has a statutory duty to protect. This decision to transfer from a global 
account to individual client accounts was primarily as a result of an external 
inspectorate report finding, and the nature of the clients has determined this task as 
a key priority for internal audit input. It is pleasing to note that this project is reaching 
a successful conclusion and will be regarded as a business-as-usual task in the 
future rather than a current high risk area requiring action. This Committee will 
continue to be kept appraised of progress and any issues presented. 
 

Page 9



 

 

  
1.4 Annual Governance Review 
 

It is a statutory requirement for the Authority to review annually the effectiveness of 
its governance arrangements and publish an Annual Governance Statement. During 
the period Internal Audit have carried out the annual governance review for 2021-22. 
The exercise has included 121 meetings with each of the SLT Directors and a review 
of: 
 

 Governance Assurance Statements completed by each of the Directors  

 Governance issues raised in external assurance reports (e.g. LGA Corporate 
Peer Challenge, DHLUC Assurance Reviews, Grant Thornton’s Auditor’s 
Draft Annual Report) 

 Specific returns by S151, SIRO & CIA, and  

 Internal Audit work in the year 
 

The outcome of the review will be reported in the draft Annual Governance 
Statement. This is required to be published on the Council’s website by 31/7/22 and 
is scheduled to be reported to ARMC in October 22. The final version will be 
approved along with the Council’s financial statements. 

 
1.5 M74 Review  
 

An audit review was undertaken during the period to determine whether the controls 
around the use of M74 forms for the creation and authorisation of new posts are 
effective. The audit identified four medium priority actions to improve the control 
environment in operation and facilitate full corporate compliance with the policy and 
procedure, these have all been agreed with senior management and an action plan 
produced with related timescales. Internal Audit will continue to monitor progress in 
this area and report any shortfall to this Committee. 

 
1.6  Key Financial Systems – Post Covid Reviews 
 

Following on from the Covid19 Impact reviews completed in 2020-21, a programme 
of secondary reviews was developed in line with best practice guidance provided by 
CIPFA and CIIA focussing on the return to normal operations following the pandemic 
across these important service areas. The reviews were designed to evaluate the 
effectiveness of the arrangements in place to mitigate key risks to the operation of 
systems to facilitate a post pandemic return to ‘business as usual’ whilst also 
providing an opportunity to follow-up on the key issues, observations and 
recommendations identified from previous reviews.  

  
The financial systems included within the programme of work were:  

 

Accounts Payable     Payroll  
Accounts Receivable    Income Control   

 Council Tax      Business Rates  
 Personal Finance Unit    Benefits   
 Client Finance Support     Merseyside Pension Fund    

  

Page 10



 

 

Findings indicated that significant progress had been made to address the key 
issues and recommendations made following the Post Covid impact reviews 
completed in 2020-21 although the development of effective Business Continuity 
Plans and Service Level Risk Registers was still an on-going issue in a number of 
cases and actions were agreed to address. Follow up audit work in this area is 
scheduled for 2022-23 and the outcomes will be reported to this Committee. 

 
1.7 Counter Fraud Training 
 

Internal Audit have developed a suite of new counter fraud training modules in line 
with current best practice incorporating all relevant legislative and regulatory 
requirements and identifying appropriate actions for individuals to take to identify and 
respond to potential fraud threats in these areas: 
 
General Fraud 
Bribery and Corruption 
Money Laundering 
 
The intention is to roll this training out across the Council workforce this quarter 
utilising the FLO automated platform and targeting specific areas of the Council’s 
operations where fraud risks are most prevalent to relevant training modules. 

 
1.8 Accounts Payable System 
 

Actions are currently being taken by senior management to improve controls in 
operation over the Accounts Payable system following an audit during the period.  A 
number of agreed actions are being implemented by senior management to 
strengthen the overall security of the system and mitigate risks associated with 
targeted fraudulent activity aimed at the Council. Officers have been alerted and 
acknowledge the need for these actions to be replicated in future systems currently 
being developed. Internal Audit will continue to work with senior management and 
colleagues to ensure that best practice solutions are implemented in response to 
risks in this area and continue to report on progress in this area to Committee. 

 
2. Audit Recommendations 
 

2.1  All of the actions identified in audit reports for the period have been agreed with  

management and are being implemented within agreed timescales. The current 

BRAG status for these items are currently classified as amber or green as a 

consequence. Internal Audit will continue to monitor progress and report any 

slippages to senior management via the Power Bi dashboard on a monthly basis. 

Any significant items outstanding beyond agreed timescales and without sufficient 

mitigations will be reported to this Committee for any appropriate actions to be 

taken.   

3. Internal Audit Performance Indicators 

3.1  The Service constantly evaluates and measures the effectiveness of its 

performance in terms of both quality and productivity by means of a number of 

performance indicators in key areas as identified below. This is particularly 

Page 11



 

 

important at present as the service returns to a normal level of operations following 

the disruptions caused by the Covid pandemic and the continued agile working: 

IA Performance Indicator Annual Target Actual %  

Delivery to date   

Percentage of High priority recommendations 

agreed with clients. 

100 100 

Percentage of returned client survey forms for 

the reporting period indicating satisfaction 

with the Internal Audit service. 

90 100 

Percentage of internal audit reports issued 

within 14 days of the completion of fieldwork. 

 

100 

 

95 

 

3.2  There are currently no significant issues arising. 

4.  Internal Audit Planned Work Qtr 2 22/23   

4.1 Audit work is currently being delivered in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan for 
2022-23 as endorsed by this Committee in March 2022.  Each piece of work has 
been identified for review based upon the significance of the risks presented in these 
areas and the corporate impact associated with failure of the control systems in 
operation. Work currently identified for the next quarter includes the following: 

 

 Business Grants - Post Assurance Checks 

 Financial Resilience – Budget Processes 

 Corporate Governance  

 Merseyside Pension Fund 

 Regeneration – New Town Deal Initiative 

 Wirral Growth Company 

 Health and Safety 

 SmartBusiness Project (ERP) 
 

5. Internal Audit Developments 

5.1 Continuous Improvement  

This is important to the overall efficiency and effectiveness of the Internal Audit 

Service and as such a Continuous Internal Audit Improvement and Development 

Plan is in operation that incorporates new and developing areas of best practice 

from across the profession, ensuring that the service continues to constantly 

challenge how efficient and effective it is at delivering its service to all of its 

stakeholders and making any relevant changes and improvements as required. 

Some of the actions currently ongoing include: 

Page 12



 

 

• Continued ongoing developments involving the Mersey Region Counter Fraud 

group led by Wirral Internal Audit. 

• Continuing development of the Wirral Assurance Map identifying areas of 

assurance for the Council for utilisation in audit planning and risk 

management process; 

• Ongoing development of performance management and reporting database 

with enhanced reporting via a real time dashboard for Members of this 

Committee; 

• Ongoing improvements to the audit reporting format for consultancy 

engagements; 

• Ongoing development of reciprocal arrangement with neighbouring  

authorities for audits of ‘owned’  non internal audit services 

 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

  

 

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
MONDAY 27 JUNE 2022 
 
 

REPORT TITLE: ANNUAL ARMC REPORT 2021-22 

REPORT OF: CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITOR  

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 

To comply with best professional practice the Audit and Risk Management Committee is 
required to complete an annual report to Council on the work undertaken by the Committee. 
 
Attached at Appendix A is the Annual ARMC Report prepared by the Chair in consultation 
with Internal Audit. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee is recommended to approve the Annual 
ARMC Report for 2021-22 and submit this to Council. 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 

1.0  REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION 

1.1 To comply with best practice identified in the CIPFA publication ‘Audit Committees: 
Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and Police’. 

 
2.0  BACKGROUND   

2.1 The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 
 Issued amended regulations in 2006, to the 2003 Accounts and Audit 
 Regulations – ‘The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) (England) 
 Regulations 2006. 
 
2.2 One of the amended regulations relates specifically to the systems of internal 

audit in operation and requires bodies to regularly review their system of internal 
audit, and for the findings to be considered by a committee of the body, or by the 
body as a whole. 

 
2.3  Advice from CIPFA, incorporated into the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

includes the assertion that the “systems of internal audit” can be considered to 
include the role and effectiveness of the Audit Committee which therefore should be 
assessed and evaluated. As part  of this requirement  there is an expectation that 
the ‘Audit Committee’ prepares an annual report that evaluates and summarises the 
activity of the committee during the year and that this is presented to Council.  

 
2.4  An annual report for 2021-22 has been prepared by the respective Chairs of the 

Committee for the 2021-22 and 2022-23 municipal years  in consultation with 
Internal Audit evaluating the activity of the Committee during the year and this is 
attached at Appendix A for consideration and approval by the Members. 

 
2.5 In addition, a self-assessment exercise is undertaken annually of the Committee 

against the CIPFA best practice requirements and will be presented to the October 
meeting of the Committee each year for consideration.  

 
3.  OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED  

3.1 No other options considered appropriate for the production of the annual report. 
 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
5.0  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 

6.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report. 
 
 

Page 16



 

 

 
7.0  RELEVANT RISKS  

7.1 Potential failure of the Audit and Risk Management Committee to comply with best 
professional practice and thereby not function in an efficient and effective manner. 

 

8.0  ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Members of this Committee are consulted throughout the process of preparing and 
delivering the annual report. 

 
9.0  EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 The content and/or recommendations contained within this report have no direct 
implications for equality. However, the delivery of an effective Audit and Risk 
Management Committee will assist in ensuring that the Council, its finances, and 
service provision are effectively managed and governed aiding the advancement of 
equality. 

 
10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 

 

10.1  The content and/or recommendations contained within this report are expected to 
have no impact on emissions of CO2/greenhouse gases.  

 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The content and/or recommendations contained within this report have no direct 

implications for community wealth. However, the delivery of an effective internal 
audit service will assist in ensuring that the Council, its finances, and service 
provision are effectively managed and governed aiding the advancement of 
economic, social and environmental justice for all residents. 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Mark P Niblock 
  Chief Internal Auditor 
  telephone:  0151 666 3432 
  email:   markniblock@wirral.gov.uk  
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1: Annual ARMC Report 2021-22 
 
The information contained within the appendices below may not be suitable to view for 
people with disabilities, users of assistive technology or mobile phone devices. Please 
contact josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk if you would like this document in an accessible 
format. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Accounts and Audit  Regulations 2006 
CIPFA:  Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and Police 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
 

Page 17

mailto:josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk


 

 

 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

 

Council Meeting  Date 

Audit and Risk Management Committee  Annual report presented to  

this Committee in 

June/July every year. 

 

 

Page 18



 1 

         APPENDIX 1 

 
 
 

 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 

Annual Report 2021-22 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Kathy Hodson, Chair - Audit and Risk Management Committee 2021-22  
Councillor Simon Mountney, Chair – Audit and Risk Management Committee 2022-23 
 

P
age 19



 2 

ARMC Annual Report  2021-22 

 

Contents Page 

 
 
1. FOREWORD                   4 
 
2. BACKGROUND                  5 
 
2.1 What drives Governance Policy                5 
 
2.2 Why do we need an Audit Committee                 5 
 
2.3 What does the Audit Committee do                    6 
 
2.4 How do officers support the Committee                    6 
  

3. 2021-22 FINANCIAL YEAR                    7 

 

4. SOME KEY INFORMATION                  7 

 
4.1. Audit and Risk Management Committee Membership                 7 
 
4.2. Key features of the Audit Committee and its operation                  8 
 
4.3. Meetings and attendance                     8 

P
age 20



 3 

 

5. CORE ACTIVITY 2021-22                     9 

 
5.1. Terms of Reference                       9 
 
5.2. Number & Type of Reports Considered by Committee                 13 
 

6. OTHER ACTIVITIES                    14 
 

7. OUTCOMES                       14 

 

8. PLANS FOR 2022-23                   16 

 
9. APPENDIX 1:              
 

 ARM COMMITTEE – TERMS OF REFERENCE                 18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 21



 4 

1.        Foreword  

 
  

 
I am pleased to present the Audit and Risk Management Committee’s Annual Report for 2021-22. It records the activities 
undertaken by the Committee across a wide range of control, risk and corporate governance matters. 
 
During the year, the Committee met on five occasions and received reports in connection with the full range of issues that fall 
within its remit. This report indicates the breadth of the Audit and Risk Management Committee’s activities in ensuring that 
every aspect of the council’s work should be compliant with standards and transparent to its stakeholders. 
 
I strongly believe that this Annual Report demonstrates the immense value that the Committee brings to the Council and the 
public in ensuring that improvements to the governance arrangements of the authority are being delivered. As the Chair I can 
clearly see first-hand the significant contribution that the Audit and Risk Management Committee makes to the improvement 
and development of operational standards and protocols across a wide range of governance areas particularly during what 
has clearly been a very challenging year. 
 
Finally, I would like to acknowledge the enormous contribution that the Members of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee and the supporting officers have made during the past year.  
 
 

 By the Chair of the Audit & Risk Management Committee during 2021-22 
 Councillor Kathy Hodson 

 
 
 
 

P
age 22



 5 

2.       Background  

 
2.1 What drives Governance Policy  
 

The Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and 
that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. In discharging 
this overall responsibility, the Council is also responsible for ensuring that there is a sound system of control which facilitates 
the effective exercise of the Council’s functions and which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 
 
Effective corporate governance is a fundamental feature of any successful public sector organisation.  
 
A sound corporate governance framework involves accountability to service users, stakeholders and the wider community, 
within which authorities take decisions, and lead and control their functions, to achieve their objectives. It thereby provides 
an opportunity to demonstrate the positive elements of an authority's business and to promote public confidence. 
 
Wirral Council has adopted the revised local Code of Corporate Governance. 

 

 
2.2 Why do we need an Audit Committee 
 

While there is no statutory obligation to have such an arrangement, Audit Committees are widely recognised as a core 
component of effective governance and therefore reflect good practice. Wirral’s Audit and Risk Management Committee is 
properly constituted and, as such, is given sufficient authority and resources by the Council. In effect, the Committee has the 
right to obtain all the information it considers necessary and to consult directly with senior managers. In line with best 
practice from both the public and private sectors, the Audit and Risk Management Committee can report its observations and 
concerns directly to Council. 
 

P
age 23



 6 

A local authority has a duty to ensure that it is fulfilling its responsibility for adequate and effective internal control, risk 
management, and governance, as well as the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of its activities. The Audit and Risk 
Management Committee has a key role in overseeing and assessing the internal control, risk management, and corporate 
governance arrangements and advising the Council on the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements. 
 

 
2.3 What does an Audit Committee do 
 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee’s main responsibilities are to oversee the Council’s corporate governance and 
finance arrangements, the work of internal audit, and the Council’s response to external audit and other external inspections. 
 
This purpose is reflected in the committee’s terms of reference which are reviewed and adopted each year (Attached at 
Appendix 1). 
 
 

2.4. How do Officers Support the Committee? 
 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is supported by: 
 
•  The Monitoring Officer who is required by law to ensure that the Council acts within its legal powers at all times; and, 
 
•  The Director of Resources, as Section 151 Officer who is responsible under the law for ensuring the proper 
 administration of the council’s financial affairs. 
 
•  The Chief Internal Auditor who has a key role to play in supporting the Committee because of the importance of the 

Internal Audit service to governance.  
 
 •  Any other officer of the Council as required.  
 
 

P
age 24



 7 

3.     2021-22 Financial Year  

 
This Annual Report for 2021-22 produced by the Audit and Risk Management Committee has been prepared in accordance with 
the CIPFA best practice publication ‘Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and Police’. The report 
demonstrates how the Audit and Risk Management Committee has fulfilled its terms of reference during a very difficult year and 
how it is fully committed to helping to improve the Council’s governance and control environments during what should prove to be a 
very challenging year ahead. 
 
The committee’s activities during 2021-22 were designed to make a positive contribution to the continual improvement of 
governance arrangements across the Council, as well as performing the statutory roles as identified in the Constitution. 
 
 

4.      Some Key Information  

 
4.1. Audit and Risk Management Committee Membership 
 
During 2021-22 the Audit and Risk Management Committee had the following Members: 
 
Councillor Kathy Hodson – Chair      Councillor David Brennan 
Councillor Stuart Whittingham - Spokesperson     Councillor Adrian Jones  
Councillor Jason Walsh - Spokesperson     Councillor Kate Cannon    
Councillor Stuart Kelly - Spokesperson     Councillor Tony Smith 
Councillor Jennifer Johnson      Councillor Simon Mountney 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce      Peter McAlister 
Joanne Byrne 
 

P
age 25



 8 

4.2. Key Features of the Audit Committee and its Operation 
 
The Committee met CIPFA’s definition of best practice as illustrated below: 
 

Best 
Practice     

Expectation Met  Comment 
 

Independence

  
Independent from the executive and 
scrutiny 

√ The Committee was independent of the executive and scrutiny 

 
Number of 
Members 

 

Minimum of 3 to 5 members √ The Committee had 12 Members 

Number of 
meetings 

 

Aligned to business needs 

 
√ The Committee met 5 times during the year. 

Co-option  

 
To be considered relative to skills 

 
√ Training was provided during the year to increase Members’ skills. 

Terms of 
Reference 

 

Accord with suggested 
best practice 

 

√ The Committee adopted the CIPFA recommended model. 

Skills and 
training 
 

Members have 
sufficient skills for the 
job 
 

√ General and specific training was provided during the year to increase 
Members’ skills. 

 
 

4.3. Meetings and Attendance 
 
The Audit Committee normally met 5 times during the year in January, March, July, September and November.  
 
Attendance by Members and approved deputies was over 90%. 

P
age 26



 9 

5.        Core Activity During 2021-22  

 
5.1. Terms of Reference 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee’s Terms of Reference are comprehensive, comply with best practice, cover all key 
areas and are attached at Appendix 1 to this annual report. The Committee’s work and outcomes in each of its areas of 
responsibility are summarised in the following subsections. 
 
Internal Audit 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee: 
 

•  Approved the Chief Internal Auditor’s Audit Plan, 

•  Considered regular reports produced by the Chief Internal Auditor, highlighting internal audit work completed, internal audit 

performance against key indicators and any significant issues arising during the period, 

•  Approved amendments to reporting arrangements including development of the summary reports from Internal Audit, 

•  Considered the Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual Report and assurance opinion on the Council’s control environment, 

•  Considered reviews of the effectiveness of the systems of internal audit, 

•  Ensured internal and external audit plans were complementary and provided optimum use of the total audit resource, 

•  Received updates on the Internal Audit Counter Fraud Teams’ remit and activities undertaken, 
•  Received and considered updates on the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, 
•  Considered reports on audit investigations conducted as appropriate, 
•  Considered and approved revisions to Chief Internal Auditors Audit Plan. 
•  Reviewed the Council’s progress on all internal audit recommendations on a regular basis and asked managers to explain 

progress where appropriate, thereby holding them to account, 
• Received progress updates from relevant Senior Managers regarding audit recommendations implementation, 

 
  

P
age 27



 10 

We continue to provide support to the Internal Audit service to ensure management is responsive to recommendations made and 
agreed. 
 
External Audit 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee: 
 

•  Considered the external auditor’s Audit Plan, 

• Considered progress against the plan presented by the external auditor 
• Received and considered all external audit findings and inspection reports issued in the year and consider management’s 

response to them, ensuring robust and thorough responses, 
•  Reviewed the external audit Committee Update reports and take appropriate actions in response to issues presented, 
• Reviewed the Council’s progress on all external audit and inspection recommendations on a regular basis and ask managers to 

explain progress where appropriate, thereby holding them to account, 
• Received and considered all of the external auditors reports on the Merseyside Pension Fund, 
•  Considered the external auditor’s Annual Audit Letter. 
 
 
We continue to provide support to external audit to ensure management is responsive to recommendations made and agreed. 
 

Risk Management 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee: 
 
•  Considered regular reports on the Departmental and Corporate Risk Registers and challenged policy and process, 
•  Provided significant input to the development of the risk registers through Member workshops, 
• Considered reports on the proposed development of corporate Risk Management arrangements, 
•  Promoted Risk Management across the Council, 
•  Considered regular reports on Corporate Risk Management, 

P
age 28



 11 

We continue to provide support to promote effective Risk Management policy and procedures across the Council and ensure best 
practice is achieved.  
 
Internal Control and Governance 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee: 
 

•  Agreed the Council’s Annual Governance Statement, 

•  Considered reports on progress made to address significant governance issues identified in the AGS, 
• Supported the ongoing development of a Mersey region Counter Fraud Group, 
• Engaged with and supported the annual Counter Fraud Awareness Week initiative, 
• Supported work undertaken as part of the Cabinet Offices’ National Fraud Initiative, 
•  Considered and supported amendments to the Council’s counter fraud arrangements, 
• Considered reports on Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules compliance, 
• Considered reports on Information Governance 
 
The Annual Governance Statement is a key document which summarises the Council’s governance arrangements and the 
effectiveness of the arrangements during the year. 
 
Accounts 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee: 

 
• Agreed the Council’s accounting policies, 

•  Agreed the Annual Statement of Accounts, 

• Received and considered the external auditor’s report on the accounts, and ensured that the Council responds to the auditor’s 
 comments,  
•  Received and considered the Council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy, 

• Agreed the annual Merseyside Pension Funds accounts, 

P
age 29



 12 

• Received and consider the external auditor’s report on the MPF accounts and responded to comments, 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee received regular reports on the Council’s financial Management arrangements in the 
context of the financial challenges facing the Council. 
 
Specific Issues 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee also considered reports and presentations on the following specific issues which arose 
in the period: 
 

• Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, 

•  Whistleblowing Policy 

 Senior Information Reporting Officer Annual Report 

 Regeneration Activity 

 Independent Members Appointments 
 

 
To give a flavour of our business during the year, the following shows the types and numbers of reports considered between April 
2021 and March 2022: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 30



 13 

5.2. Numbers & Types of Reports Considered by the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 
 
 

5

11

5

11

2

External Audit (5)

Internal Audit (11)

Risk Management (5)

Governance (11)

Financial Management (2)

 
 
 
 

P
age 31



 14 

6.        Other Activities  

 
During the year, the Committee demonstrated its commitment to good governance by: 
 

i) Overseeing the implementation of actions to address governance issues identified. 
 
ii) Devoting significant resource to addressing governance issues arising out of the Covid pandemic. 

 

iii) Overseeing developments designed to improve risk management arrangements; 
 

iv) Referring matters to other bodies for attention as appropriate; 
 
v) Asking Chief Officers to attend as appropriate and present reports on issues identified which affected governance.  

 
 

7.        Outcomes  

 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee aims to focus on adding value through its activity. By concentrating on outcomes the 
Committee can identify the benefits of its work. In particular this year the Committee: 
 

•  Oversaw work on the Statement of Accounts;  

•  Encouraged and presided over a strengthening of the control environment, specifically by overseeing various targeted  

 reviews and the production of the Annual Governance Statement; 
• Presided over significant challenges that the organisation faced during the pandemic effecting the structure of the organisation 

and all services; 

P
age 32



 15 

•  Encouraged and presided over developments and improvements to strengthen the delivery of the Internal Audit service to 

ensure continued compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards; 

• Presided over systems for routinely reporting actions taken by officers in relation to items identified as being significant 

governance issues in the Annual Governance Statement; 

• Encouraged a strengthening of the Council’s overall control environment; specifically by overseeing various targeted reviews  

 and the production of and challenge to the Annual Governance Statement; 

• Challenged risk management arrangements and facilitated the development of improvements in this area including the 

strengthening of the Member Risk Management workshops. 

 • Ongoing contribution to the development of improved governance in operation over the Council’s procurement arrangements 

through oversight and challenge including compliance with corporate policy and procedure; 
 
In addition, individual Members and the Audit Committee collectively continued to develop and learn about our roles including 
development and attendance at professional training sessions targeted specifically at Audit Committee Members, and enabling us 
to deliver our roles more effectively. 
 
The Committee also presided over the introduction of two independent, non-elected members to the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee to further strengthen its effectiveness in line with current best practice.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 33



 16 

8.     Plans for 2022-23  

 
During 2021-22 the Audit and Risk Management Committee has consolidated the progress that has been made in previous years 
and has performed well during a very difficult and challenging year that has included the continuation of the Covid pandemic, 
extremely difficult financial conditions faced by the organisation and linked to this, a number of external assessment reports in year 
identifying areas for improvement in some of the Councils governance arrangements. Throughout, the Committee has continued to 
provide challenge and support to the organisation in equal measure throughout this difficult period. Going forward we will look to 
develop our role as the recognised champion of good governance and the ultimate vehicle for assuring that adequate challenge is 
provided to the Council to ensure that effective systems of control and governance are in operation and being complied with.  
 
Consequently, with a new Chair we are embarking upon a period of changes to the Committee designed to increase its 
effectiveness that will include pulling on the latest best practice in this area that will see the following: 
 

• A restructuring of the Committee membership, fully integrating the independent members and reducing the number of 
elected members in order to make the committee more focused and effective. 

• Development of working relations with officers to improve our understanding of the respective roles and improvement 
opportunities available, 

• Streamlined reports and reporting to allow for more focussed attention by the Committee on key risks and strategic issues 
• Smaller more focussed agendas to facilitate the above 
• More targeted training and development for Members of the Committee to improve their effectiveness 

 
The Committee will endeavour to work more closely with officers to help identify and  address issues in what promises to again to 
be a very challenging and difficult environment. Our priorities for 2022-23 are to implement all the developments mentioned as well 
as continuing to meet our duties as specified in the Constitution by developing and building on our current status as well as 
operating more proactively to address all challenges faced as well as implementing any new requirements as they arise.  
 
 
 

P
age 34



 17 

 
For 2022-23 we will: 
 
    

• Provide sufficient challenge to the Council to ensure that standards are continuously met, and the demanding requirements 
of the external inspection and assessment regime are achieved. 

• Challenge the value for money systems in operation where the use of public resources leaves the Council exposed to 
increased risk or weaknesses in control, 

• Oversee reviews of the Council’s governance arrangements in operation to ensure the Council adopts the very latest best 
practice in key areas such as operational performance and compliance,  

• Commission reviews and reports on the effectiveness of  the Council systems in key areas,    
• Support the work of Internal and External Audit and ensure appropriate responses are given to their recommendations, 
• Contribute to the development of key corporate operations including Risk Management and Business Continuity,   
• Continue to ensure that all aspects of the Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards are complied with, 
• Continue to help the Council to manage the risk of fraud and corruption by supporting the work of Internal Audit and 

colleagues in this area, 
• Continue to develop the Wirral Council Audit and Risk Management Committee to review risk, partnerships’ and 

regeneration issues and safeguard public sector interests, 
• Oversee the development of audit plans to evaluate and test controls in respect of services delivered either by trading 

companies run by the Council or on behalf of them, 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

Councillor Simon Mountney 
Wirral Council Audit and Risk Committee  

P
age 35



 18 

9.       Appendix 1.  

 

          Audit and Risk Management Committee – Terms of Reference   

 
1. Composition:  
  
To be determined each year by the Annual Meeting of Council and subject to the overall political balance calculation, in respect of 
which: 
 
(a) The membership of the Audit and Risk Management Committee may not include Leader or Deputy Leader of the Council, a 

Chair of a Policy and Services Committee or any other member of the Policy and Resources Committee 
 
(b) Members may not consider decisions as part of the of the Audit and Risk Management Committee that they have made as a 

member of another Committee. In this case, they should declare an interest and leave the meeting room. If a member feels 
that there is a particular reason why he or she should participate, a dispensation must be sought from the Constitution and 
Standards Committee or Monitoring Officer 

 
(c) The Committee will in addition include a person who is not a Member or officer of the Council who shall be a co-opted 

member of the Committee entitled to speak but not vote at meetings. 
  
2 Terms of Reference 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee is a key component of Wirral  Council’s corporate governance. It provides an 
independent and high-level focus on the audit, assurance and reporting arrangements that underpin good governance and financial 
standards. 

P
age 36



 19 

The Committee provides independent assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework and the associated control 
environment, independent scrutiny of the Council’s financial and non-financial performance to the extent that it affects the Council’s 
exposure to risk and weakens the control environment, and to oversee the financial reporting process. It oversees internal audit and 
external audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective assurance arrangements are in place. 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee is charged by full Council to:- 
 
(a) Governance 
(i) Consider the Annual Governance Statement, and be satisfied that this statement is comprehensive, properly reflects the risk 

and internal control environment, including the system of internal audit, taking into account internal audit’s opinion on the 
overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s framework of governance, risk management and control, and includes an 
agreed action plan for improvements where necessary. 

 
(b) Internal Audit and Internal Control 
(i) With Chief Officers, to provide proactive leadership and direction on audit governance issues and champion audit and 

internal control throughout the Council. 
(ii) Consider annually the effectiveness of the system of internal audit including Internal Audit Charter, Strategy, Plan of work 

and performance and that those arrangements are compliant with all applicable statutes and regulations, including the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards and Local Government Application Note. 

(iii) Consider the Head of Internal Audit’s annual report and a summary of internal audit activity which include an opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s internal controls including risk management, any corporately significant issues 
arising, and receive assurance that action has been taken as necessary. 

(iv) Consider regular summary reports on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of concern and actions in hand 
as a result of internal audit activity. 

(v) Consider reports showing progress against the audit plan and proposed amendments to the audit plan. 
(vi) Ensure there are effective relationships between internal audit and external audit, inspection agencies and other relevant 

bodies and that the value of the audit process is actively promoted. 
 
(c)  Risk Management & Control 

P
age 37



 20 

(i) Provide proactive leadership and direction on risk management governance issues and champion risk management 
throughout the Council and ensure that the Full Council is kept sufficiently informed to enable it to approve the Council’s Risk 
Management Policy and Framework and that proper insurance exists where appropriate. 

(ii) Consider the effectiveness of the system of risk management arrangements. 
(iii) Consider an annual report and quarterly reports with respect to risk management including, an opinion on the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the Council’s risk management, any corporately significant issues arising, and receive assurance that action 
has been taken as necessary. 

(iv) Receive assurances that action is being taken on risk related issues identified by both internal and external auditors and 
other inspectors. 

(v) Independent scrutiny of the authority’s financial and non-financial performance to the extent that it affects the authority’s 
exposure to risk. 

(vi) Report to full Council as appropriate. 
 
(d) Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
(i) Provide proactive leadership and direction on Anti-Fraud and Corruption and champion Anti-Fraud and Corruption 

throughout the Council. 
(ii) Consider the effectiveness of the Council’s anti-fraud and corruption arrangements. 
(iii) Consider an annual report and other such reports, including an annual plan on activity with respect to Anti-Fraud and 

Corruption performance and receive assurances that action is being taken where necessary. 
(iv) To be appraised of any steps arising from Whistleblowing investigations and to ensure appropriate actions are being taken 

and reported. 
 
(e) Annual Statement of Accounts 
(i) Consider the external auditor’s reports and opinions, relevant requirements of the International Standards on Auditing and 

any other reports to members with respect to the Accounts, including the Merseyside Pension Fund and approve the 
Accounts on behalf of the Council and report required actions to the Council. Monitor management action in response to 
issues raised by the external auditor. 

(ii) Consider the External Auditors Annual Governance Report and approve the Letter of Representation with respect to the 
Accounts and endorse the action plan contained in this Report. 

(f) External Audit 

P
age 38



 21 

(i) Consider any other reports of external audit and other inspection agencies. 
(ii) Ensure there are effective relationships between external audit and internal audit. 
(iii) To liaise with the Public Sector Audit Appointments over the appointment of the Council’s external auditors and make 

recommendations to Council. 
 
(g) Merseyside Pension Fund 
(i) Following presentation to the Pensions Committee and with due regard to any comments and observations made, consider 

the draft Accounts of the Merseyside Pension Fund and authorise the publication and release of these accounts to the 
external auditors for the audit by the statutory deadline. 

 
(h) Treasury Management 
(i) Consider the effectiveness of the governance, control and risk management arrangements for Treasury Management and 

ensure that they meet best practice. 
 
(i) Partnerships and other bodies 
(i) To deal with any audit or ethical standards issues which may arise in relation to partnership working, joint committees and 

other local authorities or bodies.  
(ii) Ensure that there are effective governance arrangements in place for Wirral Borough Council’s wholly owned limited 

companies and trading vehicles.  
(iii) Receive and review the financial statements and dividend policies of any Wirral Borough Council limited companies and to 

consider recommending corrective action where appropriate  
 
(j) Administration 
(i) Review the Committee’s own terms of reference no less frequently than annually and where appropriate make 

recommendations to the Council for changes. 
(ii)  Ensure members of the committee have sufficient training to effectively undertake the duties of this committee. 
(iii) Consider the Annual Report of the Chair of the Committee. To provide independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk 

management framework and the associated control environment, independent scrutiny of the Council’s financial and non-
financial performance to the extent that it affects the Council’s exposure to risk and weakens the control environment, and to 
oversee the financial reporting process. 

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

  

 

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

MONDAY 27 JUNE 2022 
 

REPORT TITLE: CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITORS ANNUAL REPORT AND 

OPINION 2021-22 

REPORT OF: CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITOR 

 

 

REPORT SUMMARY 

The Internal Audit Service plans and completes audits to review relevant areas of risk to the 
Council. 

 
Reports, including recommendations produced following audits are presented to managers.  
A summary report is produced annually by the Chief Internal Auditor and an overall opinion  
provided as to the effectiveness of the Council’s control environment. 

 
This report presents the Chief Internal Auditors Annual Report for 2021-22. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

Members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee are recommended to note the 
report. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



 

 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 

1.  REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION 

1.1 To provide the Members with assurance that the Council is taking appropriate 
measures to comply with statutory requirements to provide an adequate and 
effective internal audit service. 

 
1.2 To ensure that risks to the Council are managed effectively. 
 
1.3 To ensure that the Council complies with best practice guidance identified in the 

CIPFA publication ‘Audit Committees: A Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and 
Police 2018’. 

 
2.  OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED  

2.1 This option is considered the most appropriate for the preparation and delivery of this 
report as it fully complies with current best professional practice. 

 

3.  BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

3.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations require that a local authority “shall maintain an 
adequate and effective system of internal audit”. 

 
3.2 In order to meet the statutory requirements the Internal Audit Service has conducted 

audits to review the operation of the internal control systems. The work has been 
conducted in accordance with Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards set by the 
Audit Practices Board, Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountants and the 
Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors. 

 
 CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITORS ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22 
 
3.3 The attached Chief Internal Auditors Annual Report specifies the Internal Audit 

assurance opinion on key areas of the Council’s activity for 2021-22. 
 
3.4 Audit work conducted during the year has been affected by the Covid pandemic, 
 particularly during the early part of the year and the flexible Internal Audit Plan 
 introduced during 2020/21 was rolled forward into 2021-22 to accommodate risks 
 presented in real time.  As things returned to a higher degree of normality during the 
 year the Internal Audit Service was able to return to a normal service delivery model 
 albeit operating in a hybrid fashion and was able to undertake a significant and 
 comprehensive amount of  planned work across key risks to the Council. In addition, 
 some work was also targeted in those areas where pandemic related risks were 
 presented. This combination of work is considered sufficient to support the delivery 
 of the Chief Internal Auditors annual opinion.  
  
3.5 The Internal Audit programme of planned work was compiled on an ongoing risk 

assessment basis that included consideration of the sensitivity and complexity of all 
risks presented in year. Client requests, systems being developed, and the 
availability of resources were also other factors also taken into account during the 
year. 

Page 42



 

 

 
3.6 Internal Audit work, both planned and completed has been continuously reported to 

this Committee in real time throughout the year to ensure that Members were 
constantly kept informed regarding audit activity. This has been particularly important 
to demonstrate the range of audit work during the pandemic, and the dynamic nature 
of the planning process over this extraordinary period. This has ensured that the 
Committee has been provided with ongoing assurances regarding the effectiveness 
of controls in operation across the Council in response to risks presented during the 
year. 

 
4.  FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
5.  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
6. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
7.  RELEVANT RISKS  

7.1 Appropriate actions are not taken by officers and Members in response to the 
identification of risks to the achievement of the Council’s objectives. This is mitigated 
by a robust system of follow up and escalation of audit matters. 

 
7.2 Potential failure of the Audit and Risk Management Committee to comply with best 

professional practice and thereby not function in an efficient and effective manner. 
This is mitigated by comprehensive governance and reporting systems developed 
and implemented in compliance with relevant professional standards. 

 
8.  ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Members of this Committee are consulted throughout the process of delivering the 
Chief Internal Auditors Annual Report. 

 
9. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The content and/or recommendations contained within this report have no direct 

implications for equality. However, the delivery of an effective internal audit service 
will assist in ensuring that the Council, its finances, and service provision are 
effectively managed and governed aiding the advancement of equality. 

 
10. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The content and/or recommendations contained within this report are expected to 

have no impact on emissions of greenhouse gasses.  
 
 
 
 

Page 43



 

 

11. COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The content and/or recommendations contained within this report have no direct 

implications for community wealth. However, the delivery of an effective internal 
audit service will assist in ensuring that the Council, its finances, and service 
provision are effectively managed and governed aiding the advancement of 
economic, social and environmental justice for all residents. 

 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Mark P Niblock 
  Chief Internal Auditor 
  telephone:  0151 666 3432 
  email:   markniblock@wirral.gov.uk 
 
APPENDICES 

Appendix One - Chief Internal Auditors Annual Report 2021-22 
 
The information contained within the appendices below may not be suitable to view for 
people with disabilities, users of assistive technology or mobile phone devices. Please 
contact josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk if you would like this document in an accessible 
format. 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

CIPFA Publication: Audit Committees a Practical Guidance for Local Authorities 2018 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
 
 
 

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Audit and Risk Management Committee  Annual Report 

 

 

Page 44

mailto:josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk


Wirral Internal Audit Services 

 
 

 

 

 

Chief Internal Auditor’s 

Annual Report and Opinion on the System of Internal Control 
2021-22  

 
 

 

 

 

 

Mark P Niblock 

Chief Internal Auditor 

Wirral Internal Audit Service             

 

P
age 45



Wirral Internal Audit Services  

Section One 

Executive Summary 

 

1.1 Introduction 

 In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), the Chief Internal Auditor is required to provide an 
 annual opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s control and governance processes. This is 
 traditionally achieved through the delivery of a comprehensive risk-based plan of work (the Internal Audit Plan), agreed 
with  Officers and Members. For 2021-22 however, due to both ongoing and legacy issues relating to the Covid pandemic the 
 service operate a streamlined audit plan for much of the year that was more flexible, and dynamic reflecting the key risks 
 to the organisation including those relating to Covid challenges and activity, and as reported quarterly to management and 
 the Audit and Risk  Management Committee. The Internal Audit Service delivered a comprehensive programme of work 
over  the full twelve-month period up to the 31 March 2022, covering all of the in-year key risks to the Council and as detailed in 
 this report which is considered sufficient to support the delivery of the Chief Internal Auditor’s annual opinion. This  does 
not  imply that Internal Audit has reviewed all risks and assurances relating to the organisation, however the opinion does form 
 one of the key sources of assurance that underpins the Council’s Annual Governance Statement.  

   

1.2 Overall Assurance 

 In providing an opinion it should be noted that assurance can never be absolute.  The work of Internal Audit can only 
 provide  reasonable assurance that there are no major weaknesses in the Council’s control and governance 
 processes. The  opinion provided is based on the work completed by internal audit and reported to the Audit and Risk 
 Management Committee.  It must be noted that there may be weaknesses in the Council’s systems of internal control that 
 have not been identified if they did not form part of the programme of audit work completed or were excluded from the 
 scope of individual internal audit assignments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 46



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
2 

1.3 Opinion  

 

It is important to acknowledge that external reports received by the Council during the reporting period identify a number of 
areas for improvement across the Council’s governance arrangements and for which improvement plans have been put in 
place and many actions implemented to improve systems in year.  

Having taken account of this and the impact on the control environment as well as the outcomes from the programme of 
audit work, including my ongoing engagement with senior management, it is my opinion that, the Council generally 
maintains adequate and effective control and governance processes overall. This opinion is based on audit work performed 
during 2021-22 and from cumulative knowledge of the organisation.   

There has been positive engagement with management in agreeing recommendations where audit work has identified 
weaknesses in the design or application of controls. Action plans are in place to address all issues identified through the 
work of internal audit. The results of the follow up audits completed provide assurance that the actions agreed in response 
to audit reports are implemented in a timely fashion. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 47



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
3 

Section Two 

Basis of the Opinion 

 

2.1  Planned coverage and output  

As a direct consequence of the ongoing Covid pandemic during the year that included legacy issues and risks associated 
with systems implemented to manage corporate activity in response to the pandemic, the Internal Audit Service operated a 
more flexible and dynamic programme of audit work that recognised and adapted to the evolving risk landscape. The 
service did however manage to complete sixty four individual assignments across a wide range of service areas during 
2021-22 specifically targeted at key risks to the Council with 100% of actions identified in audit reports agreed with clients 
for implementation.  

 

The ability of the team to complete some planned audit work during the early part of the year was directly affected by the 
pandemic,  preventing completion of a number of audit assignments, however under the circumstance’s coverage is 
considered sufficient and wide- ranging enough to allow a confident and evidence-based annual audit opinion. It is 
important to note that the overall opinion is based on internal audit work undertaken during 2021-22 and the significant 
level of challenge to the Council that  necessitated some changes to its day-to-day control and governance 
arrangements. During the year Internal Audit continued to have significant involvement in supporting the Council’s 
response to Covid-19 undertaking work relating to the Council’s response, as well as directly supporting Covid-19 activity 
across a wide variety of business areas. To date no significant  issues or weaknesses arising from this work have been 
identified that would impact on the overall opinion.  

   

2.2 Summary of work supporting the opinion 

 The audit work undertaken that forms the basis of the opinion includes:  

 

 The work of Internal Audit in reviewing the Council’s governance arrangements including challenging and 
supporting the arrangements implemented during the pandemic. 

 Assessment of risk management arrangements across business areas including those implemented in response 
to risks presented throughout the pandemic. 

P
age 48



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
4 

 Assessment of the range of audit opinions arising from audit assignments completed during the year.  This 
assessment takes account of the relative materiality of areas audited and includes the development and 
utilisation of audit programmes for key financial systems to evaluate the risks and impacts of Covid on these 
systems and mitigating actions taken by management. 

 The development and delivery of a plan of work for the Merseyside Pension Fund that included Covid impact 
assessments, and for which separate reporting arrangements are in operation in accordance with the service 
level agreement. 

 Assessment of management’s responses to Internal Audit’s recommendations and the progress made in 
addressing risks and issues identified through audit work. 

 Discussions with senior managers from across the organisation throughout the pandemic to contribute to 
developing appropriate responses to evolving risks and threats presented in line with government requirements 
and best professional practice.    

 

2.3  Audit assignments completed  

A full list of the audit assignments that have helped inform the opinion is provided in Appendix A.  The list identifies a wide 
range of different types of audit activity undertaken during the year. Where actual planned audits have been completed 
each of these is graded in terms of the risk to the organisation and how well risks were managed in the area under review.  
Four different levels of opinion are used:  major, moderate, minor and negligible.  Definitions of the assurance levels are 
provided in Appendix B.   Where audit work comprises consultancy work of an advisory and guidance type nature or is of a 
Covid supporting activity, either providing support and guidance or involvement in systems designed to address challenges 
presented, a specific risk opinion has not been included, however audit involvement has been provided in compliance with 
best professional practice to support effective control and governance principles.  

 

For those opinions provided the chart below analyses the audit opinions identified within audit reports during 2021-22. It is 
notable that the majority of opinions provided fall within the minor and negligible categories although a sizeable number are 
rated as moderate, representing the nature of the risks presented during this challenging period. It is encouraging however 
to note that only a relatively small number of audits (9%) were ranked as presenting a major risk to the organisation during 
the audit.   

 

P
age 49



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
5 

  
 

2.4 Summary of key issues arising in year 

 Issues have been identified in audit work completed during the year and reported to senior management for appropriate 
 actions to be undertaken to mitigate any risks and strengthen and improve the respective control environment. All of these 
 issues have been summarised and reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee at regular scheduled meetings 
 and appropriate actions taken by Members that have included relevant officers being invited to Committee meetings to 
 provide updates including progress being made to implement agreed actions. Key issues identified and reported during 
 2021-22 include the following for which actions have either been undertaken in  year by senior management or are 
 progressing and will be subject to further audit work during 2022-23: 

 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Organisational Risk
Opinion

Organisational Risk Opinions 2021-22 

Major Moderate Minor Negligible

P
age 50



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
6 

Information Governance and GDPR Compliance.  

The Council will need to ensure that it continues to build on the progress made during 2021-22 to achieve key objectives 
in this area, current arrangements must continue to be strengthened to ensure ongoing compliance with GDPR, 
especially in light of the new corporate hybrid working arrangements and associated increased risks and threats 
presented. Internal Audit will continue to contribute to these developments and remain an active member of the 
Information Governance Board providing targeted advice and guidance. 

   

  Finance Management. 

DHLUC Assurance reviews published during the year identified some significant risks to the Council regarding its ability to  

balance its budget over the period of the MTFS. During 2021-22 the Council was reliant on exceptional financial support 

(Capitalisation Directive) to achieve a year-end balanced position although the support required did reduce to £6.5m. 

External reviews subsequent to the DHLUC Assurance reports, including LGA Corporate Peer Challenge (CPC) and 

Independent Panel, have highlighted that there is an improving recognition of the Council’s financial context and the 

Council had an improved grip on its finances. For 2022-23 the Council set a balanced budget without the use of reserves. 

Challenges remain however and this is acknowledged in the Council’s Annual Governance Statement for 2021-22 along 

with a recognition that progress needs be maintained. The Council faces challenging savings and efficiencies targets for 

2022-23 and an ambitious capital programme provides increased revenue pressure in future years. The CPC recognised 

that there is a need for the management of the budget to be a shared priority and to ensure that there is total commitment 

and prioritisation to deliver the agreed budget proposals.  

The Council’s Financial Recovery Plan, reported under Financial Sustainability in the Council’s wider Improvement Action 

Plan, includes a series of actions the Council has either taken, is in the process of implementing or plans to implement in 

2022 and beyond in the areas of strengthening medium term financial planning, implementing robust planning and 

monitoring of savings, reserves, improving financial governance and oversight, and capital and assets. It is essential that 

progress in this area continues at pace. 

   

 

    

P
age 51



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
7 

  Risk Management 

Over recent years there has been significant progress in improving corporate risk management arrangements that include   

reviews of the Corporate Risk Register (CRR) on an annual and ongoing basis, with risks subject to review by SLT and 

ARMC throughout the year, and an ARMC risk management Member sub-group. There are examples where risks are 

being actively managed through Directorate risk registers and DMT discussions, although regular review is not always 

consistently applied across all directorates. Recent activity has included the appointment of two ARMC Independent 

Members and the provision of a risk management awareness training session for all Members in January 2022, with the 

intention of this being a regular event, an externally facilitated risk appetite session in February 2022, and an SLT focus 

session in March 2022 to facilitate the review and update of the CRR.  

It is recognised that more can be done to further strengthen corporate risk management arrangements. An independent 

review of the Council’s risk exposure in relation to all commercial investments has been commissioned and will be 

completed in 2022-23.  

The Improvement Plan following the external reviews includes actions from June 22 to report the CRR to Policy and 

Resources Committee and to report on Regeneration and Investment risks in line with external audit guidance. 

    

Business Continuity Planning 

Work on business continuity planning is progressing with several actions currently being undertaken across the 

organisation to improve arrangements in this important area of operations that include the development and 

implementation of more effective operational plans as well as the delivery of targeted training and awareness sessions. 

The  next phase will include testing with Digital on their response arrangements; this will subsequently provide information 

for services to further develop their BCPs including in the event of a Cyber Security attack.  

It is important that this work is concluded in line with agreed targets during the year to ensure that key risks to operations 

are effectively mitigated through robust contingency planning.  

 

 

 

P
age 52



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
8 

Cyber Security 

  Risks have continued to increase significantly during the previous twelve months in this area and the Council must 
continue to improve its response to and protection from these constantly evolving and more complex and sophisticated 
threats. A number of actions have been agreed with senior management following audits to achieve key objectives in this 
area during 2022-23 to ensure that robust controls and mitigations remain in operation across the Council and evolve in 
line with the heightened risks. The Council is also working towards implementing improvements identified in the ‘Cyber 
Threat Plan’ as well as achieving Cyber Essentials Plus accreditation, a government backed scheme  that identifies best 
practice control standards across a range of disciplines to protect the organisation against threats of this nature. Internal 
Audit will continue to monitor progress in this area during the year through regular liaison with the Head of ICT and Digital 
and through further targeted audit work.  

 

 Adult Safeguarding 

Work completed with Council officers and WCT social workers during the year identified an issue of communication flow 
regarding the progression of safeguarding cases. It is pleasing to note that follow up audit work provided evidence that 
this original high-level risk had been fully acknowledged by senior management and agreed actions taken promptly to 
rectify the issue through improved working practices and information channels. 

 

 Children’s Personal Budgets and Commissioned Care 

Actions are currently being undertaken by management within the Children’s department to address several serious 
weaknesses in control systems identified in an internal audit report during the latter part of the year. Management have 
provided ongoing updates on progress being made to address these reported issues and further audit work is scheduled 
to be completed during the first half of 2022-23 to assess the overall progress made and the impact of the revised 
working practices on the control environment.  

 

Accounts Payable – Access 

Actions are being taken by senior management to improve controls in operation over the Accounts Payable system 
following an audit towards the end of the year. Actions being implemented will strengthen the security of the system and 
mitigate risks associated with targeted fraudulent activity aimed at the Council. Officers have been alerted and 
acknowledge the need for these actions to be replicated in future systems currently being developed. Internal Audit will 

P
age 53



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
9 

continue to work with senior management and colleagues to ensure that best practice solutions are implemented in 
response to risks in this area.  

 

 Data Centre 

Actions have been taken in year by senior management to address issues identified in audit reports to improve security 
and protect the integrity of data maintained at the Councils main data centre. Since the audit was undertaken however, a 
number of developments have taken place regarding occupancy of the building and risks in this area have now increased 
as a direct result and the need for enhanced control arrangements has heightened. Internal Audit continue to work with  
colleagues to ensure that the risks are addressed with minimum impact to the Council’s operations. 

  

Planning - S106 System 

During the year an audit review of the Section 106 Monies system in operation within the planning permissions system 
identified a number of significant risks where controls were not deemed to be effective and a number of actions were 
agreed with senior management to address these and improve arrangements. It is encouraging to note that all of the 
agreed recommendations have been addressed in year and that plans are well developed for further improvements 
including the implementation of a new computerised operating system scheduled for July 2022. Further audit follow up 
work is scheduled for later in the year to evaluate the effectiveness of the revised arrangements following the launch of 
the new system and outcomes will be reported to the Audit Committee. 

 

Regeneration – Financial Risk 

The Council has recognised that there are governance risks in relation to its Regeneration agenda that could impact its 

Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and has plans in place to improve reporting on legacy projects and financial 

commitments. Grant Thornton’s Auditor’s Annual Report for 2020-21 also identifies several risks in this area and includes 

a key recommendation that Governance arrangements for the oversight of the regeneration agenda and issuing of 

financial guarantees for leases and acquisition of assets should be strengthened and accounting advice should be 

received prior to entering into transactions. The CPC highlighted that further work is required to bring together the multiple 

regeneration projects into a single place and to support a delivery plan that addresses underlying risks. The Council’s 

Improvement Plan highlights several related actions in this area for implementation during 2022-23 that are also identified 

P
age 54



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
10 

in the Council’s Annual Governance Statement as being significant and it is important that these actions are completed in 

line with agreed timescales to ensure that all risks in this area are mitigated effectively. 

 

Key Financial Systems – Post Covid Reviews 

Following on from the Covid19 Impact reviews completed in 2020-21, a programme of secondary reviews was developed 
in line with best practice guidance provided by CIPFA and CIIA focussing on the return to normal operations following the 
pandemic across these important service areas. The reviews were designed to evaluate the effectiveness of the 
arrangements in place to mitigate key risks to the operation of systems to facilitate a post pandemic return to ‘business as 
usual’ whilst also providing an opportunity to follow-up on the key issues, observations and recommendations identified 
from previous reviews.  

  
The financial systems included within the programme of work were:  

 

•  Accounts Payable     • Payroll    • Accounts Receivable  
•  Income Control     • Council Tax    • Business Rates  
•  Personal Finance Unit    • Benefits   • Client Finance Support   
•  Merseyside Pension Fund    

  
Findings indicated that significant progress had been made to address the key issues and recommendations made 
following the Post Covid impact reviews completed in 2020-21 although the development of effective Business Continuity 
Plans and Service Level Risk Registers was still an on-going issue in a number of cases and actions were agreed to 
address. Follow up audit work in this area is scheduled for 2022-23. 

 

2.5 Follow-up audit assignments completed  

In accordance with the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards follow-up audit assignments are 
normally routinely completed for all audits. These audits examine the progress that management has made in 
implementing previously agreed audit recommendations.  A revised opinion is subsequently issued for each ‘follow up’ 
audit, which is informed by the  extent to which the issues identified in the original audit report have been addressed. 
Good progress has been made during 2021-22 by management in response to these audits. Any failure to implement 
agreed recommendations within agreed timescales are routinely reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee.  

P
age 55



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
11 

 

 

 

2.6  Limitations placed on internal audit 

 During the year, there have been no matters arising which have impacted on the independence of the Internal Audit 
 Service and there have been no inappropriate scope or resource limitations on internal audit work. 

 

2.7 Conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS)  

 The Council’s external PSIAS assessment was completed during 2021 and the overall conclusion was that the 
 Council’s internal audit arrangements ‘fully conform’ with all aspects of the standards.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 56



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
12 

 

 

Section Three 

Performance, Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 

 

3.1  Performance 

The Internal Audit service measures its ongoing performance against an agreed set of key targets in line with current best 
practice and as identified below.  These indicators form part of the overall service performance reporting information for 
senior management and the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

The table below details the key performance targets relating to the Internal Audit Service and identifies actual performance 
during 2021-22, indicating that all of the targets were achieved: 

 

IA Performance Indicator Target Actual 

Percentage of High priority recommendations agreed 
with clients. 

100 100 

Percentage of returned client survey forms indicating 
‘satisfaction’ with the IA service. 

90 100 

Percentage of internal audit reports issued within 10 
days of completion of fieldwork. 

100 100 

 

3.2 Quality Assurance 

 The development and maintenance of a Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) is a requirement within 
 PSIAS. The purpose of the QAIP is to ensure that the Internal Audit service operates in accordance with PSIAS and the 
 Local Government Application Note (LGAN) and maintains consistently high standards. The Internal Audit Service 

P
age 57



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
13 

 operates a Quality Assurance Improvement Programme (QAIP) that is designed to provide all stakeholders with 
 reasonable assurance that the service performs its work in accordance with this, the Internal Audit Charter, Strategy and 
 Code of Ethics. The QAIP is designed to cover all elements of internal audit activity in accordance with PSIAS Standard 
 1300 ensuring compliance, adding value and helping improve organisational operations. Key elements of the quality 
 assurance improvement programme are described below:  

 

 The Internal Audit team is made up of appropriately trained and qualified staff with significant local government 
experience.  All of the team complies with ethical rules, technical standards and professional practice laid down by 
Wirral Internal Audit Services and respective professional bodies; 

 Internal audit work is based upon a detailed risk-based audit plan, which is agreed in consultation with management 
and is approved by the Audit and Risk Management Committee; 

 Internal Audit employs an audit methodology that is in accordance with professional standards; 

 Terms of reference are developed with key stakeholders for each audit assignment which set out the agreed 
coverage; 

 Robust management review is undertaken of all audit files and reports prior to issue; 

 Post audit assessments are undertaken for all audit assignments completed utilising the Auditor Skills Framework, 
and evaluating performance against identified competency criteria;  

 There is a well-developed system of regular reporting of progress against the audit plan and the performance of the 
Internal Audit Service against key targets to the Audit and Risk Management Committee; 

 All Internal Audit staff complete annual declarations confirming their compliance with the Code of Ethics; 

 There is a commitment to the continuing professional development of all internal audit staff through a range of 
learning and development opportunities including ongoing auditor skills appraisal.  These include professional 
training, on the job training, e-learning, webinars and attendance at relevant training events and workshops.  

 

3.3  Feedback from audit clients 

  Internal Audit invites feedback on the quality of service provided by issuing a ‘customer satisfaction questionnaire’ at the 
 end  of each audit.  This is an important process in terms of identifying how the audit was received by the service area.  It 
 is also an important means of identifying aspects of the audit process that can be improved.    

P
age 58



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
14 

 

 The feedback received in the year was very positive despite the working restrictions imposed as a result of Covid and there 
 were no common themes in the questionnaires returned that highlighted any particular areas for improvement.  A sample 
 of comments received through the questionnaires is included below: 

 

 The recent audit went very well, many thanks go to the Auditor for her support during the audit which made the 
process manageable.  

 The auditor’s approach was very professional.   

 The audit has identified areas for improvement that we might not have considered..... a very welcome experience.. 

 The process was very helpful and highlighted important areas for improvement. 

 

3.4 Areas for Development  

 The main challenge for the Internal Audit Service in 2022-23 is to ensure that any shortfalls in audit coverage across 
 Council systems arising directly from the Covid pandemic during 2021-23 are addressed ensuring that sufficient audit 
 work is completed during the year to support the annual audit opinion.  

 

In addition, the Covid pandemic has also necessitated changes to the focus of some planned work, as the environment 
within which the Council is operating has changed significantly and many new risks have emerged and will continue to do 
so. In order to address this, a more dynamic approach to the planning of audit work has been adopted in line with best 
professional practice and this includes the adoption of a more flexible and dynamic Internal Audit Plan as presented to the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee in March 2022. 

 

Outcomes from external reviews during 2021-22 has identified some areas of corporate operations and governance 
systems for improvement and actions are underway by the Council to identify and implement systems to strengthen 
arrangements in these areas. The Internal Audit Service has an important role to play, assisting and supporting the 
organisation in evaluating and assessing progress in a number of these areas and inclusions have been made to the Audit 
Plan to accommodate targeted work in some of these areas and programmes will be developed to undertake this work 
during 2022-23.  

 

P
age 59



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
15 

Other corporate initiatives currently being implemented that will require the Internal Audit Service to develop a more robust 
and refined audit approach to certain operations during 2022-23 includes the implementation of Integrated Care Systems 
for the planning and delivery of health and care services, as well as the delivery of numerous major corporate regeneration 
projects across the borough. Each of these will involve a different model of delivery and include working directly with 
partners from outside of the organisation such as NHS auditors, to develop joined up collaborative solutions to risk and 
control issues presented.     

 

Throughout the Covid pandemic the Internal Audit Service was largely required to work remotely with the vast majority of 
audit engagements being undertaken in this fashion. This enforced change provided opportunities to challenge the way 
that the team operates and to implement some improvements to working practices. A number of these working practices 
continue today and allow for increased flexibility of delivery that is beneficial to both the organisation and the workforce. 
The Internal Audit Service will continue to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of this hybrid way of operating and 
develop the model as required making sure that performance management and quality control arrangements remain 
paramount.  

 

   

P
age 60



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
16 

Appendix A 

Summary of Internal Audit Activity During 2021-22 

 

A summary of the audit work completed in the year is set out below, identifying the planned audit work completed as well as the 
activity associated with the Covid pandemic. Assurance ratings and the number and priority of recommendations made are 
identified where appropriate.  

 

Definitions of the organisational risk opinion can be found at Appendix B. 

 

No Audit Assignment Organisational 
Risk Opinion 

High 
Recs 

Med 
Recs 

Low 
Recs 

Recs Impl / 
In Progress 

1 Accounts Payable - Access Control - Audit Major 10 5 1 In Progress 

2 Adult Safeguarding - Audit Major 1 0 0 Y 

3 Annual Leave Extra Holiday Review 21-22 - Audit Moderate 0 4 0 In Progress 

4 Bank Statements – Consultancy, Advice and Guidance N/A 0 0 0 - 

5 Bank Tender Project – Consultancy, Advice and Guidance N/A 0 0 0 - 

6 Borrowing - Handelsbanken – Consultancy, Advice and 
Guidance 

N/A 0 0 0 - 

7 Certification of claim after verification - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

8 Children's commissioned care - Audit Major 3 3 0 In Progress 

9 Constructionline – Consultancy, Advice and Guidance N/A 0 0 0 - 

P
age 61



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
17 

No Audit Assignment Organisational 
Risk Opinion 

High 
Recs 

Med 
Recs 

Low 
Recs 

Recs Impl / 
In Progress 

10 Corporate Governance Group - Advice and Guidance N/A 0 0 0 - 

11 Corporate Governance - Advice and Guidance N/A 0 0 0 - 

12 Covid 19 BAU Review - Accounts Payable - Audit Moderate 2 2 1 In Progress 

13 Cyber Security - Audit Major 6 4 0 In Progress 

14 Data Centre Follow Up - Audit Major 4 0 0 In Progress 

15 Covid Business Payments - Assurance Reviews - Audit Moderate 2 2 5 In Progress 

16 Gifts and Hospitality - Audit Moderate 0 4 0 Y 

17 Hamilton Park Development - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

18 Hayfield School - Audit Minor 0 4 1 Y 

19 Heat Network Grant Claim - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

20 Hind Street Development - Audit Minor 0 1 0 Y 

21 Housing Benefits - Specified Accommodation - Audit Moderate 1 7 1 In Progress 

22 Information Governance Board - Advice and Guidance N/A 0 0 0 - 

23 Information Governance Board (SIRO Report) - Advice and 
Guidance 

N/A 0 0 0 - 

P
age 62



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
18 

No Audit Assignment Organisational 
Risk Opinion 

High 
Recs 

Med 
Recs 

Low 
Recs 

Recs Impl / 
In Progress 

24 Insurance Management Follow up - Audit Moderate 0 5 4 In Progress 

25 Leasowe Primary - Audit Minor 0 5 1 In Progress 

26 Lingham Primary School - Audit Minor 0 6 2 Y 

27 Liscard Town Centres Q2 Claim - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

28 Local Pension Board Annual Report 20/21 - Audit Negligible 0 0 0 Y 

29 M74 Forms - Audit Moderate 0 4 0 In Progress 

30 Mayor's Charity Fund 2020/21 - Audit Minor 1 7 0 In Progress 

31 Meadowside School - Audit Minor 0 3 2 Y 

32 New Ferry Town Centres Q1 & Q2 Claims - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

33 Northern LGPS Collective Asset Pool - NPEP - Audit Minor 0 0 3 In Progress 

34 Our Lady & St Edwards Catholic Primary - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

35 PAY.net System Access Controls - Advice and Guidance N/A 0 0 0 - 

36 Payroll Covid-19 BAU Review - Audit Minor 0 1 3 In Progress 

37 Pensions Payroll Recharge - Advice and Guidance N/A 0 0 0 - 

P
age 63



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
19 

No Audit Assignment Organisational 
Risk Opinion 

High 
Recs 

Med 
Recs 

Low 
Recs 

Recs Impl / 
In Progress 

38 Port City Innovation Hub Q3 - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

39 Port City Innovation Hub Q4 - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

40 Post C19 BAU Review - Accounts Receivable - Audit Negligible 0 1 0 In Progress 

41 Post C19 BAU review - Collection Fund - Audit Moderate 0 2 1 In Progress 

42 Post C19 BAU Review - Income Control - Audit Negligible 0 0 0 Y 

43 Post C19 BAU Review - PFU - Audit Moderate 0 3 0 In Progress 

44 Post C19 BAU review- Benefits - Audit Moderate 0 2 1 In Progress 

45 Post C19 BAU Review-CFST - Audit Moderate 0 3 2 In Progress 

46 Post Covid-19 BAU Pensions Review - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

47 Pre-Dev Hamilton Park & Northside - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

48 Pre-Dev Hind Street Q3 - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

49 Purchase Cards - Audit Minor 0 7 0 In Progress 

50 Raeburn Primary school - Audit Minor 0 4 0 In Progress 

51 Review of complaint - Merseyside Pension Fund Moderate 1 6 1 Y 

P
age 64



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
20 

No Audit Assignment Organisational 
Risk Opinion 

High 
Recs 

Med 
Recs 

Low 
Recs 

Recs Impl / 
In Progress 

52 Rock Ferry Primary School - Audit Minor 0 1 3 Y 

53 Sandbrook Primary School - Audit Minor 0 1 1 Y 

54 St Paul's Catholic Primary School 2020/21 - Audit Minor 0 2 2 In Progress 

55 Staying Safe Online Statistics - Advice and Guidance N/A 0 0 0 - 

56 Thingwall Primary School - Audit Minor 0 2 1 In Progress 

57 VAT Compliance Arrangements - Audit Negligible 0 0 0 Y 

58 Well Lane Primary school - Audit Minor 0 9 0 In Progress 

59 West Kirby Primary School - Audit Minor 0 2 2 Y 

60 Wirral Evolutions - Audit Moderate 0 3 0 Y 

61 Wirral Heat Network Q3 - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

62 WTC Liscard Q3 - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

63 WTC New Ferry Q3 - Audit Minor 0 0 0 Y 

64 Planning - Section 106 - Audit Moderate 1 4 0 In Progress 

 

 

P
age 65



 

Wirral Internal Audit Services 
21 

 

Appendix B 

Organisational Risk Opinions 

 

Conclusion from Audit Findings 

 

 

Risk Level 

A Major organisational risk opinion indicates that the likelihood/impact of the risks identified 
during the review, should these materialise, would leave the Council open to a major risk of a 
fundamental or material nature. This opinion suggests that that there are some potentially 
serious weaknesses in the design and/or operation of the control environment that may have 
a significant impact on the achievement of systems and/or corporate objectives if not 
addressed. 

 

Major 

A Moderate organisational risk opinion indicates that the likelihood/impact of the risks 
identified during the review, should these materialise, would leave the Council open to a 
moderate risk of a fundamental or material nature. This opinion suggests that that there are 
some weaknesses in the design and/or operation of the control environment that may have 
varying degrees of impact on the achievement of systems and/or corporate objectives. 

 

Moderate 

A Minor organisational risk indicates that the likelihood/impact of the risks identified during the 
review, should they materialise, would leave the Council open to minor non fundamental or 
material risk. 

 

Minor 

A Negligible organisational risk indicates that there were no weaknesses identified during the 
audit review and that the Council is not exposed to any risks directly associated with the 
findings. 

 

Negligible 

 

P
age 66



 

 

1 

 

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

  

 

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

Monday 27th June, 2022 
 

REPORT TITLE: CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES (S151 OFFICER) 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report provides an update on the Council’s risk management arrangements and areas 
of risk management focus over the coming year. 
 
This matter affects all Wards within the Borough. It is not a key decision. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee is recommended to note the report. 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 9



 

 

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 
 

1.1 To enable the committee to understand the Authority’s most significant risks, the 
associated mitigating controls, and the risk management framework to fulfil its role of 
providing independent assurance of the Council’s Risk Management Framework. 
 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

2.1 No other options considered appropriate as failure to report this information would 
demonstrate ineffective governance and non-compliance with professional best 
practice. 
 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

3.1  The Council defines a risk as “an uncertainty that could have adverse or beneficial 
effects on the achievement of objectives”. It seeks to identify, understand, and 
manage these risks by the implementation of it’s risk management strategy and a by 
operating a hierarchy of risk registers throughout the organisation.  

 
Hierarchy of Risk Registers within Wirral Council 

 
 
3.2 The aim is not to eliminate all risk but reduce it to acceptable and tolerable levels as 

well as improving the awareness and visibility of risk levels being carried by the 
Council. The risk management processes need to be applied continuously to 
demonstrate sound decision making and be dynamic to adapt and reflect the 
changing situation the Council operates within.  
 
 

Page 70



 

 

Corporate Risk Register (CRR) 
3.3  The CRR captures the large scale, strategic risks that have the potential to impact on 

the Council’s priorities and its ability to deliver its services. This does not mean that 
all risks identified will occur but rather if they did that it could have a significant 
impact on the Council. 

 
3.4  The Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) undertook a detailed reassessment of the 

Corporate Risk Register in March. This has led to a number of changes some of 
which are still being concluded. A follow-up session with a selection of SLT is due to 
take place in July ahead of the next regular quarterly review in September. It is worth 
noting that a risk register is a dynamic document and therefore reflects the situation 
at a point in time. 

 
3.5  Following this session in July the CRR will be shared and be available for 

directorates to consider as part of their regular reviews of the Directorate Risk 
Registers to allow the flow of risks up and down through the risk hierarchy described 
above. 

 
3.6  One of the major changes to the CRR is the inclusion of a positive risk or opportunity 

for the first time. The aim is to identify the beneficial outcomes of a vision, areas 
where it is possible to be innovative rather than reactive and demonstrate the 
consideration of the long-term benefits. 

 
3.7 The inclusion of the opportunity side to risk does require a different approach for the 

scoring of a positive risk, this will be picked up and confirmed during the refresh of 
the Council’s risk management framework later in the year. 

 
3.8  As reported to the Committee in January the Council currently uses a 5x5 scoring 

matrix and a three-tiered colour coding system; red, amber, green. See Appendix 1 
for the scoring tables. 

 
3.9 The other significant change to the CRR has been its expansion to consider all 

significant and strategic risks faced by the Council. Standard risk management 
practice is to identify those risks that have the potential to impact on the delivery of 
an organisation’s priorities, in the Council’s case this would be the current Wirral 
Plan. This expansion in the scope of the CRR is in acknowledgment that not all risks 
easily align with the Wirral Plan 2021-26 themes and priorities.  
 

3.10  Several new risks have been included and current risks revised to reflect the 
changing circumstances faced by the Council and its residents, including from the 
cost-of-living pressures, government policy and legislation changes and the 
development of the Council’s Improvement Plan. 

 
3.11  Risk identification and evaluation is subjective, even with prescribed scoring 

methodologies. Repeated reflection of the risk descriptions is required to ensure that 
risks, controls, and mitigation are relevant and effective. 

 
ARMC Risk Sub-Group 

3.12  The Risk Sub-Group is composed of members of this committee, the Chair and party 
spokespersons, with sessions scheduled around the time of each committee 
meeting. The sessions allow for more detailed discussion and evaluation of the risk 

Page 71



 

 

management arrangements and developments, including the Corporate Risks. The 
next meeting of the group is due to take place in July with dates of future meetings to 
be finalised. 
 
Other Risk Management Activity 

3.13 To further strengthen corporate risk management arrangements a key piece of work 
will be the review and update of the Council’s risk management policy and 
supporting strategy, this will include the defining the approach to and the articulation 
of the risk appetite. 

 
3.14 Following the updating of the risk management framework training will be updated 

and made available to all staff with focussed content for certain groups, such as 
managers, and including members. 

 
3.15 The Council’s Improvement Plan highlights several related actions including a review 

of Council companies and associated risks, a review of risks relating to financial 
investments and a financing and resourcing model for regeneration. An independent 
review of the Council’s risk exposure in relation to all commercial investments will be 
completed in 2022-23.  

 
3.16 One other aspect of risk management where there is a large amount of work is 

related to the health and safety risks and hazards faced by the Council. An 
innovative new Health and Safety Risk Profile application has been developed and 
rolled out earlier this year to aid services in the identification of the legal duties that 
services/functions are required to manage and to provide assurances that there are 
suitable and sufficient controls implemented to mitigate against these risks. Work is 
now underway by the Health and Safety Team to evaluate the submissions and 
target areas with compliance issues as well as highlight common areas where 
additional support or resources may be required.  

 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
4.1 There are no immediate financial implications arising directly from this report 

however, failure to manage the Council’s risks effectively could lead to further risk to 
the Council’s financial resilience. 

 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 There are no immediate legal implications arising directly from this report. 
 
5.2 The Authority has a statutory responsibility under Part 2 – Internal Control of the 

Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2015 to have arrangements in place for 
the management of risk. It also forms part of the seven new core principles within the 
best practice guidance, ‘Delivering Corporate Governance in Local Government: 
Framework’ published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) and the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives (SOLACE). 

 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 There are no resource implications arising directly from this report. 
 

Page 72



 

 

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 Without robust risk management procedures in place there is a danger that the 

Council will fail to identify, understand, and monitor key strategic and operational 
risks. An ineffective and poorly established risk management framework prevents the 
optimisation and balanced approach between risk taking and control, leading to 
ineffective assurance and missed opportunities. The consequence of both is that 
risks are not considered in decision-making which could have serious financial, 
reputation and resource implications. 

 
8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 No specific consultation has been undertaken with regards to this report. 
 
9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 

carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision, or activity. 

 
10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The content and/or recommendations contained within this report are expected to: 
 

- Have no impact on emissions of Greenhouse Gases                   
 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The content and/or recommendations contained within this report have no direct 

implications for community wealth. However, the development of effective corporate 
risk management arrangements will assist in ensuring that the Council, its finances, 
and service provision are effectively managed and governed aiding the advancement 
of economic, social, and environmental justice for all residents. 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Helen Turner 
  (Risk, Continuity and Compliance Manager) 
  email:  helenturner@wirral.gov.uk 
 
APPENDICES 
Appendix 1 – Risk Scoring Tables 
Appendix 2 - Corporate Risk Register May 2022 
 
The information contained within the appendices below may not be suitable to view for 
people with disabilities, users of assistive technology or mobile phone devices. Please 
contact josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk if you would like this document in an accessible 
format. 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Risk Management Policy 

Page 73

mailto:josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk


 

 

 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Audit & Risk Management Committee  
Update of the Corporate Risk Register 
Update of the Corporate Risk Register 
Update of the Corporate Risk Management Arrangements 
Corporate Risk Management Update 
Risk Management Update 
Corporate Risk Register Update 
Corporate Risk Management Update 
Corporate Risk Management Update 
Corporate Risk Management Update 
Corporate Risk Management Update 
Corporate Risk Management Update 
Corporate Risk Management Update 
Corporate Risk Management Update 

 
22 July 2019  
23 September 2019  
18th November 2019  
27th January 2020 
10th March 2020 
16th November 2020 
25th January 2021 
9th March 2021 
5th July 2021 
27th September 2021 
30th November 2021 
24th January 2022 
15th March 2022 

 

Page 74



 

 

Appendix 1. Risk Scoring Tables 
 
Table 1. Scoring Matrix 

 
Impact → 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d
→

 

 1 
Very Low 

2 
Low 

3 
Medium 

4 
High 

5 
Very High 

5 
Very High 5 10 15 20 25 

4 
High 4 8 12 16 20 

3 
Medium 3 6 9 12 15 

2 
Low 2 4 6 8 10 

1 
Very Low 1 2 3 4 5 

 
Table 2. Colour Bands and Recommended Actions 

Risk Colour – 
based on 
combined score 

Risk Level Descriptor Action Required 

Green Low Minor risks that are well 
controlled and/or which 
have a modest impact. 

Additional control actions 
are unlikely to be needed. 
But the risk needs to be 
kept under periodic 
review. 

Amber Medium Important risks that may 
potentially affect the 
achievement of operational 
or strategic objectives 
and/or the delivery of key 
services 

The introduction of 
additional control actions 
should be considered. For 
risks with a high or very 
high impact a contingency 
plan may be necessary. 

Red High Critical risks that are likely 
to significantly affect the 
achievement of operational 
or strategic objectives 
and/or the delivery of key 
services. 

Further mitigating action 
should be considered. The 
risk should be kept under 
regular review. 

 
 
 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Risk Ref. Risk Description
Lead 

Director
Existing Mitigation / Controls Selection of Planned Actions

Status of 

Risk

   

Comments / Progress

1

Ability to Deliver 

Failure to translate into action and deliver changes 

needed, including organisational culture, and 

improvement action plan leads to increased scrutiny 

interventions/commissioners, inefficiencies, financial 

implications

Independent Assurance Panel established Dec 2021.

Regular reporting to P&R Committee

DLUHC Recommendations monitoring in place

Regular monitoring reports by Independent Assurance Panel

Agreement to move to all out elections in 2023.

Changes to committees  - number and structure implemented May 2022

2 5 10

Finalise Improvement Plan

LGA Corporate Peer Challenge findings to  be incorporated into 

plans.

Strengthening of cross-party working collaboration.

Extension of the delegated authority to officers

0 * New risk - target score to be 

agreed.

2

Key Partnerships

Failure to develop and maintain key partnerships with 

effective governance and decision making leads to 

loss of reputation with external stakeholders, 

distraction from priorities, breakdown of 

arrangements and inefficiencies

2 4 8 0 0 0

A - Active and Healthy Lives - working to 

provide happy, active and healthy lives 

for all, with the right care, at the right 

time to enable residents to live longer 

and healthier lives.

C - Inclusive Economy - working for a 

prosperous, inclusive economy - helping 

businesses to thrive and creating jobs 

and opportunities for all.

Change in focus of risk - 

controls and scores to be 

reviewed.

3

Whole Council Recovery

Lack of effective recovery from pandemic/Failure to 

link strategic plans to ensure whole 

organisation/corporate responsibility for recovery  

resulting in poor service delivery, lack of 

transformation and people left behind

2 4 8 Wirral Plan refresh 0 *
D - Safe and pleasant communities -

Working for safe and pleasant 

communities where our residents feel 

safe, and are proud to live and raise their 

families

B - Brighter Futures - working together 

for brighter futures for our children, 

young people and their families by 

breaking the cycle of poor outcomes for 

all regardless of their background

New risk - 

controls/actions/target score to 

be agreed.

4

Increasing and unmanageable demand for 

services

Pressures on public of Cost of Living and longer term 

Covid impacts leads to changes in planning 

assumptions and unanticipated demand for services 

resulting in infrastructure and service structures not 

fitting requirements, growing inequalities, 

inefficiencies, increased costs, public at risk.

Simone 

White / 

Graham 

Hodkinson / 

Julie Webster

Use of Public Health intelligence to highlight health and wellbeing needs 

of the local population, inform local priorities, policies and strategies. 

Partnership working with Wirral's Health and care, voluntary and 3rd 

sector organisations to use Wirral resources to support residents to lead 

active and healthy lives. 

NHS Health Inequalities group also established.

Logic financial modelling to understand impact of current initiatives on 

savings

Monitoring of savings targets and impact of pressures on services

Reporting and monitoring demand on services and other wider 

pressures e.g. workforce. Developed workforce strategy

Accommodation Gateway Panel reviewing children when they come into 

care

3 4 12

Development of Health Inequalities Strategy. Working group 

being formed to feedback to Health and Wellbeing board

Carry out financial forecasting in preparation for Oct '23 policy 

change and factor into the Medium term financial plan

Contribute to and share planning as a partner within the  North 

West and ADASS reviews. 

Care and Support Review-to trial new ways of working with 

people to provide a more personalised response.

Assistive Technology Plan-implement a range of technology and 

digital options to assist people to remain healthy and 

independent. An increased range of extra care housing. - April 

2022

Review and improve the support offer to people at risk of 

needing hospital care or who are being discharged from 

hospital.

3 4 12

A - Active and Healthy Lives - working to 

provide happy, active and healthy lives 

for all, with the right care, at the right 

time to enable residents to live longer 

and healthier lives.

B - Brighter Futures - working together 

for brighter futures for our children, 

young people and their families by 

breaking the cycle of poor outcomes for 

all regardless of their background

From October 2023, the 

Government plans to introduce 

a new £86,000 cap on the 

amount anyone in England will 

have to spend on their personal 

care over their lifetime. Could 

lead to an increase in 

demand/costs.

5

Safeguarding

Failure of Council and partnership working to 

effectively manage safeguarding risks across all 

services leading to a safeguarding incident, resulting 

in harm to individuals and/or families, potential legal 

challenge, resident dissatisfaction and public scrutiny

Simone 

White / 

Graham 

Hodkinson

Multi-agency Safeguarding Arrangements for Children via Wirral 

Safeguarding Children Partnership (WSCP) - activity led by the LA, 

health economy and police including: robust local audit and case review 

procedures,

Section 11 and Section 175 audits of individual agency and school 

safeguarding arrangements,

Scrutiny, publication of policies and guidance, a comprehensive 

programme of multiagency training (online since April 2020) including: 

Working Together, CE, Neglect,  Domestic Abuse, Contextual 

Safeguarding, Early Help.

Serious incidents are escalated to Assistant Director Level to ensure that 

learning and procedures are implemented and followed up.

Participation in Wirral Safeguarding Adults Partnership Board 

established in 2021

DASS contract review including safeguarding requirements 

Adoption of the Prevention Framework

Close monitoring of referrals and contacts, caseloads to provide early 

warning and enable staff highlight spike in demand

Ongoing work with the CSU to understand the process around incident 

reporting and embed within contract monitoring arrangements. 

3 5 15

WCSP safeguarding leads have approved commissioning 

standards 

Strengthen Provider incident reporting - development of 

protocol, based on NHSE guidance. Commissioners to be 

updated on new process and provider contracts varied 

accordingly. Formalising arrangement with WCCG re STEIS 

reporting. Contract variations sent to all non NHS providers. 

Establishment of the Breaking the Cycle programme, 

encapsulating 8 core projects

including: PAUSE, Cradle to Career, DRIVE with outcomes - 3 

year programme to 2023

Continue to deliver the new early help model through the design 

of a new self-help digital tool for families.

0 0 0

A - Active and Healthy Lives - working to 

provide happy, active and healthy lives 

for all, with the right care, at the right 

time to enable residents to live longer 

and healthier lives.

B - Brighter Futures - working together 

for brighter futures for our children, 

young people and their families by 

breaking the cycle of poor outcomes for 

all regardless of their background

Target score to be considered.

6

Challenging Market Conditions/Provider Failures

Inability to respond to difficult market 

conditions/provider failures suffered by health and 

care people services, (cost of living/staffing/quality) 

leading to lack of provision, increased costs and 

budgets 

Simone 

White / 

Graham 

Hodkinson

Fostering Improvement Plan / Placement Review. 

Quality assurance and contract management systems in place.

Care provider market support for service continuity and quality of 

provision. 

Use of care homes contingency plans which cover events which may 

affect the safe running of the service. Wherever possible, we would 

expect the registered person to take reasonable steps to cover the staff 

shortfalls themselves in the short-term using bank or agency staff.

3 4 12

Review of Quality assurance and contract management model 

with a view to new model being implemented. Additional 

contract review underway

Development of whole People services approach to ensure 

consistency and shared best practice/resources

0 0 0

A - Active and Healthy Lives - working to 

provide happy, active and healthy lives 

for all, with the right care, at the right 

time to enable residents to live longer 

and healthier lives.

B - Brighter Futures - working together 

for brighter futures for our children, 

young people and their families by 

breaking the cycle of poor outcomes for 

all regardless of their background

Target score to be considered.

Associated Wirral Plan 2021-26 Priority

(select from dropdown - up to 2)

Current / Residual 

Risk Score 

(Out of a 

MAXIMUM of 25)

Likelihood x Impact 

= Total Score

Target Risk Score 

(Out of a 

MAXIMUM of 25)

Likelihood x Impact 

= Total Score

Appendix 2 - Wirral Council Corporate Risk Register - May 2022

P
age 77



Risk Ref. Risk Description
Lead 

Director
Existing Mitigation / Controls Selection of Planned Actions

Status of 

Risk

   

Comments / Progress
Associated Wirral Plan 2021-26 Priority

(select from dropdown - up to 2)

Current / Residual 

Risk Score 

(Out of a 

MAXIMUM of 25)

Likelihood x Impact 

= Total Score

Target Risk Score 

(Out of a 

MAXIMUM of 25)

Likelihood x Impact 

= Total Score

7

SEND

Failure to appropriately and effectively identify, 

assess, meet the need and improves outcomes for 

children and young people with Special Educational 

Needs and Disabilities resulting in a statement of 

action from Ofsted, poor school inspection 

outcomes, children do not reach their full potential 

and reputational damage for Children's Services and 

the Council

Simone 

White / 

Graham 

Hodkinson

SEND Improvement Plan and Self-evaluation co-produced for the last 

four years -  key actions are evaluated regularly through the SEND 

Operations Group and the SEND Strategic Board reviewing performance 

and holding to account.

External review of provision and recommendations

Appointment of Head of SEND and Inclusion   

Priorities detailed in the SEND Strategy 2020-24

Robust identification and assessment framework in early years, with 

trained and qualified SEND professionals.

Training and development programme for SEND Team

3 4 12

Robust performance management and quality assurance 

framework

Competency framework for EHCP Co-ordinators and EP

SEND Sufficiency Strategy development

SEND Strategic Board governance review and refresh

Development of Action Plan following SEND inspection and 

subsequent findings and recommendations.
2 4 8

B - Brighter Futures - working together 

for brighter futures for our children, 

young people and their families by 

breaking the cycle of poor outcomes for 

all regardless of their background

8

Service Delivery Failure

Unanticipated major failure in service area 

(particularly Adults / Children's / Regeneration) leads 

to service users at risk, intervention/enforcement 

action, increased costs and damage to reputation

Simone 

White / 

Graham 

Hodkinson / 

Alan Evans

3 5 15 0 *
New risk - 

controls/actions/target score to 

be agreed.

9

Workforce Capacity to Deliver

Lack of capacity to deliver services and change 

projects resulting in delays to service 

redesign/improvements/project delivery and benefit 

realisation, inefficiencies and costs, welfare issues 

amongst staff, public at risk and reputational 

damage.

Shaer 

Halewood

Refreshed Wirral Plan 2021-26 and Directorate Business Plans setting 

out priorities and key activity.

Role of Organisational Performance Group - highlighting cross cutting 

work, pressure areas and performance.

Regular communications - Exec View, Director blogs, Wellbeing 

newsletters, staff roadshows and Directorate events, Staff Forum role as 

voice of the workforce.

Manager training including - Manager Micros/Managers Network. Staff 

Check-Ins procedures to help monitor workloads and pressure points.

Staff Engagement/awareness sessions for communication of Wirral Plan 

2021-26

Vacancy Panel recruitment process and use of Matrix for agency 

recruitment

3 4 12

Service Review Programme

Staff Engagement/awareness plan for communication of 

Delivery Plans

Communication of new Target Operating Model (TOM) and New 

Ways of Working

Workforce Planning to align with TOM and Change Programme

2 4 8 

10

Health & Safety Management

Failure of officers, members or contractors to 

develop, test or sufficiently adhere to health and 

safety / compliance policies and procedures leads to 

an incident or exposure resulting in harm to 

employees / Members / members of the public, legal 

challenge and reputational damage 

Shaer 

Halewood

Health and Safety Strategic Group, chaired by Chief Executive, 

supported by the Health and Safety Steering Group.

Hazard specific risk assessment procedures implemented for COVID-19 

including for the remobilisation of services, reviewed by H&S Team and 

Public Health. Measures incorporated into general H&S risk 

assessments.

Updated H&S Strategy and Policy rolled out 2021.

Refresh of H&S subject specific policies and supporting information. 

3 5 15

Monitoring and audit programme for risks identified within H&S 

Risk Profile tool.

Completion of activity outlined in H&S Improvement Plan.

Follow-up review by Zurich of 2019 report and 

recommendations - implement recommendations

2 5 10 

11

Financial Stability

Failure to maintain sufficient level of priority and 

focus on achieving the required Financial Stability 

that could lead to in-year 2022/23 savings not being 

achieved resulting in budget overspend and/or 

2023/24 budget not being delivered to timetable 

resulting in a legal budget not being set.  

Shaer 

Halewood

Robust and rigorous monitoring of budgets and savings plans in year - 

included in regular performance reporting to committees

Budget workshops held for Budget Holders - use of budget envelopes.

Clear financial governance structure  - accountability, management and 

monitoring of budgets.

Finance Sub-Committee established.

Finance training for Members.

3 5 15

Budget setting process going forward inc review of savings 

proposals for 2022 – 2024 to ensure a programme of support 

established early on, quarterly reporting helping to ensure these 

proposals progress with an escalation process for any issues 

that may arise.

Review of the process for agreeing capital projects and funding 

to ensure a return on investment and a better link with the 

revenue budget

2 5 10

12

Long Term Financial Resilience/Management

Failure to effectively develop long-term planning 

leads to poor decisions on service reductions, 

unplanned efficiencies and in year overspends, 

resulting in the withdrawal of Council services to 

communities, government intervention, S114 

declaration.

Shaer 

Halewood

Refreshed Medium Term Financial Plan based on investment and 

income generation 

Refreshed Financial Resilience Strategy

Scrutiny and challenge to ensure future business cases for savings 

proposals are robust and deliverable

Capital Budget arrangements with revised reporting and monitoring via 

Investment and Change Board

Pension Fund - Triennial valuation ALMFSS./ISS,Asset Allocation, 

Performance data, Independent Advisors, FSM and lower risk strategies 

EPS

3 5 15

Financial Sustainability Programme - consolidated revenue, 

capital and reserves management and monitoring.

Community Wealth Building Strategy 

Develop a funding/investment strategy to identify internal 

finance pressures and external funding sources to support 

planned growth projects

Development of Asset Management Plan and an accompanying 

Asset Disposal Strategy.

Financial Recovery Plan  - 3 year plan

2 5 10

13

Good Working Relations to Deliver Change

Inability to maintain professional and collaborative 

relationships leads to delays in decision making, 

increased costs, threat of intervention

0 0 * New risk to be reflected on and 

confirmed.

14

Emerging Threats/Diseases

Lack of knowledge and uncertainty of new and 

emerging diseases leading to challenges in 

maintaining and developing plans resulting in 

inability to respond effectively, inefficiencies, risk to 

public and staff.

Julie Webster 3 5 15 0 *
A - Active and Healthy Lives - working to 

provide happy, active and healthy lives 

for all, with the right care, at the right 

time to enable residents to live longer 

and healthier lives.

D - Safe and pleasant communities -

Working for safe and pleasant 

communities where our residents feel 

safe, and are proud to live and raise their 

families

New risk - 

controls/actions/target score to 

be agreed.

P
age 78



Risk Ref. Risk Description
Lead 

Director
Existing Mitigation / Controls Selection of Planned Actions

Status of 

Risk

   

Comments / Progress
Associated Wirral Plan 2021-26 Priority

(select from dropdown - up to 2)

Current / Residual 

Risk Score 

(Out of a 

MAXIMUM of 25)

Likelihood x Impact 

= Total Score

Target Risk Score 

(Out of a 

MAXIMUM of 25)

Likelihood x Impact 

= Total Score

15

Response to a Significant Disruptive Incident  

(both internal and external)

Inability to respond effectively to a significant 

disruption resulting in a major failure in service 

delivery, increased financial burden, risk to public 

and staff safety 

Nicki 

Butterworth / 

Shaer 

Halewood

Emergency response structure - Strategic Co-ordination Group, 

operational response was led by Tactical Co-ordination Group, when 

necessary operating through a series of delivery cells.

Governance structures adaptable to changing situations e.g. during 

COVID-19 response.

Role within Mersey Resilience Forum (MRF) - specialist groups, 

exercising and development of plans.

Updated Community Safety Strategy - key priorities and activity

Requirement for annual review of Business Continuity Plans and 

awareness raising with staff.

3 5 15

Review and refresh of arrangements post COVID-19 - building 

on changes to guidance and lessons learnt

Exercising and testing of Business Continuity Plans

Participation in MRF/national exercises - identifying plan 

improvements and developments

2 5 10 

16

Cyber Security

IT security and staff awareness are insufficient to 

deter, detect and prevent unauthorised access 

(internal and external)  to IT systems, resulting in 

data breach/loss of access to data and disruption to 

Council services with increased financial costs. 

Shaer 

Halewood

Technical controls: 1) Endpoint security software, 2) Network firewall 3), 

Prevention of downloading of unauthorised software Member of NW 

notification groups/networks to share knowledge on latest incidents.

Regular patching and updates programme.

National Cyber Security Centre Keeping Safe Online training package 

essential for all staff/Members working online.

Cyber Security Board created to review security issues and agreed 

action plan.

Specialist training for IT technical experts.

4 5 20

Project to achieve Cyber Essentials+ accreditation in 2022

Review of Cyber Security Policy/activity

Roll out of Cyber Ninja awareness training for staff - Aug 2022

Implementation of recommendations for Internal Audit reports

2 5 10 

Risk score increased to reflect 

increased global threats in 

particular as a result of war in 

Ukraine.

17

Climate Response

Failure to develop and implement adaptations and 

effective response to changing climate/extreme 

weather leads to increased financial costs, reputation 

damage, lack of resilience 

Nicki 

Butterworth

Climate emergency strategy and action plan, Action Plan Group meets 

regularly to monitor progress - targets for carbon, waste and trees.

New ways of working and some unforeseen environmental benefits and 

opportunities to be built upon.

Climate Emergency Manager and Team. 

Tree planting strategy inc targets in place.

Partnership working through Cool Wirral Partnership’s Climate Change 

Strategy, Cool 2.

Carbon Literacy training - Bronze status as a Carbon Literate 

Organisation.

Environmental impact assessment for Council contracts.

3 4 12

Council achieve net zero status by 2030, borough-wide carbon 

net zero status by 2041

Development of strategy on electric vehicles/charging linked 

with the climate emergency strategy

Develop a asset management strategy including targeting of 

high carbon emission areas 

Implement procurement strategy on climate emergency linked to 

social value programme for the achievement of the procurement 

targets within the climate emergency plan.

Continued staff training and awareness programme.

Internal Audit review and associated recommendations.

2 4 8 

E - Sustainable Environment - working 

towards a clean-energy, sustainable 

borough that leads the way in its 

response to the climate emergency and 

is environmentally friendly.

D - Safe and pleasant communities -

Working for safe and pleasant 

communities where our residents feel 

safe, and are proud to live and raise their 

families

Anticipate risk will change and 

drop to DRR after final 

inspection later in 2022.

18

Development and Implementation of the Local 

Plan 2022-2037 

Failure to ensure the Council's arrangements for the 

consultation, publication and implementation of the 

Local Plan resulting in intervention, a loss of control 

over future development and missed opportunities to 

promote economic growth.  

Alan Evans Regulation 18 consultation completed

LGA, Planning Officers Society and Planning Advisory Service 

supporting the work on the Local Plan

Local Development Scheme for Wirral includes risk assessment and 

indicative timetable (latest version 03/10/2020)

Members engagement on Draft Local Plan completed

Full working Draft Local Plan issued to Statutory Bodies and Duty to 

Cooperate Partners for comment

Draft Statements of Common Ground issued to Duty to Cooperate 

Partners

Ongoing engagement with DLUHC

Ongoing engagement with Homes England and LCR CA on funding for 

strategic brownfield site

2 4 8

Publication of the Local Plan: Regulation 19 consultation 

extended to July 2022

Submission to the Secretary of State 2022

Indicative date for Local Plan Adoption early 2023

1 4 4 

C - Inclusive Economy - working for a 

prosperous, inclusive economy - helping 

businesses to thrive and creating jobs 

and opportunities for all.

Full Council (21st March 2022) 

approved the publication of the 

Submission Draft Plan for 

representations to be submitted 

on its ‘soundness’ before 

submitting it to the Secretary of 

State

19

Vision for Economic Development

Failure to maintain and deliver vision and strategy for 

sustainable economic development and 

infrastructure leading to a decline in prosperity, 

increased deprivation and inequalities across 

borough resulting in increased demands on council 

services, increased costs, 

Alan Evans

Development and consultation of the Local Plan.

Regeneration projects brought forward within a clear strategic 

framework reflecting the Borough’s Local Plan and providing confidence 

to investors, funders and developers

Strategic Framework allows for enabling infrastructure, skills and 

business support to be brought forward to underpin major project 

development

Clearly documented legal frameworks and agreements for all 

regeneration projects. Robust business cases, project and programme 

plans with detailed risk registers, to underpin key decisions

Clear lines of project reporting through project groups to the 

Regeneration and Place Board with supporting structures and 

monitoring in place

Existing relationships in place with key developers – Muse (Wirral 

Growth Company LLP) and Peel (Wirral Waters)

3 5 15 0 *
C - Inclusive Economy - working for a 

prosperous, inclusive economy - helping 

businesses to thrive and creating jobs 

and opportunities for all.

D - Safe and pleasant communities -

Working for safe and pleasant 

communities where our residents feel 

safe, and are proud to live and raise their 

families

Consideration as to whether to 

turn into an opportunity and 

scored accordingly.

20

Exposure to Long-Term Liabilities

Failure to understand and monitor exposure to long-

term liabilities (in particular within regeneration 

agreements/contracts) resulting in lack of 

planning/preparedness/contingencies, financial 

penalties and costs

Alan Evans / 

Shaer 

Halewood

3 5 15
Independent review of the Council’s risk exposure in relation to 

all commercial investments 
2 5 10 *

C - Inclusive Economy - working for a 

prosperous, inclusive economy - helping 

businesses to thrive and creating jobs 

and opportunities for all.

New risk - 

controls/actions/scores to be 

agreed.

21

Opportunity - Ability to build on the positive

Covid response leading to better partnership working, 

speed of delivery and ability of doing things 

differently and effectively

0 0 *
New Risk - yet to be scored  - 

scoring matrix to be adapted to 

reflect positive risk.

P
age 79



The scoring of risks is broken down into 2 main parts; likelihood and impact.

Wirral Council has set definitions for each score banding. These should be refered to when discussing the risk scores to help ensure consistency of scoring 

over the lifetime of the risk register as well as across different projects and teams around the council.

Each risk is given 3 different scores to help provide a storyline for the risk.

Unmanaged/Gross - with no controls in place.

Managed / Current - based on having existing controls in place and working to reduce either the likelihood of the risk occurring or the impact if it did.

Target - where the risk owner is trying to get to, perhaps with additional actions being taken, somewhat aspirational as the effect of actions maybe difficult to 

judge. What level can or will be acheived.

The tables below provide the scoring definitions as per the Risk Management Policy 2017.

Page 80



 

 

 

  

 

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

Monday, 27 June 2022 
 

REPORT TITLE: EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN WIRRAL COUNCIL 2021-22 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
Wirral Council is required to subject its financial statements to external scrutiny before a 
final version is published. This scrutiny role will be carried out by the Council’s appointed 
auditors, Grant Thornton. During the summer Grant Thornton will undertake their audit of 
the relevant financial activities and arrangements for securing value for money. The results 
of this audit will be reported back to the Committee in October 2022.   
 
The Council’s external auditors have produced the Audit Plan for their statutory audit of 
Wirral Council 2021-22.  The plan is appended to this document in Appendix 1. 
 
A verbal update of the Statement of Accounts position will be provided by Officers, as it was 
not possible to submit the draft accounts for inclusion in the Committee reports due to 
timing of their completion, approval and publication. 
 
RECOMMENDATION/S 
 
The Audit & Risk Management Committee is requested to: 
 

1. Consider the proposed Audit Plan and confirm that the arrangements set out will 
meet the Committee’s expectations with regard to providing independent scrutiny.  

2. Note the report provided by the auditors. 
3. Note the update of the Statement of Accounts. 

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 10



 

 

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 

 
1.1 The Audit Plan sets out the work the Council Auditors, Grant Thornton will be 

carrying out in their statutory audit on the Council financial statements and 
arrangements.  
 

1.2 The update of the draft Statement of Accounts brings to the Committee a verbal 
update of the financial position and status of the accounts in meeting the statutory 
deadlines. 
 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

2.1 Option to not submit to Committee for comment and approval, however, this would 
not comply with the audit regulations and would be at the detriment of the Council. 

 
 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
  
3.1 Grant Thornton have been appointed as the Council’s independent external auditors. 

Their annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 
and includes nationally prescribed and locally determined work. 

 
3.2 The report provides members of the Committee with a summary of the external audit 

approach; it also includes details of the audit fees for 2021/22 on page 20 of the 
report. 

 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
4.1 The audit fees will be met from within the revenue budget.  The fees are set out in the Audit 

plan. 
 
5.0       LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1  There are no legal aspects related to this matter. 
 
6.0  RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 None arising directly from this report. 
 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 Grant Thornton will complete a risk based audit whereby they will focus audit effort 

on those areas where they have identified a risk of material misstatement in the 
accounts. 

 
7.2      If any concerns identified by Grant Thornton are not addressed by the Council then 

there is a risk that the Council will not be able to meet its statutory requirements in 

Page 82



 

 

respect to the Statement of Accounts as well as impacting upon the Value for Money 
and Financial Resilience of the Council and the Council’s reputation. 
 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 None arising directly from this report. 
 
9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 

carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help Council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity. 

 
9.2 There are no equality implications arising specifically from this report.  The PDF file 

attached may not be suitable to view for people with disabilities, users of assistive 
technology or mobile phone devices. Please contact Diane Grisdale if you would like 
this document in an accessible format. 

 
10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 No direct implications. The content and/or recommendations contained within this 

report are expected to have no impact on emissions of Greenhouse Gases. 
 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The content and/or recommendations contained within this report have no direct 

implications for community wealth.   
 

 
 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: Diane Grisdale 
  Senior Finance Manager Strategy, Policy & Financial Accounts 
  email:  dianegrisdale@wirral.gov.uk 
 
APPENDICES 
Appendix 1 – External Auditors Audit Plan Wirral Council 2021-22 
 
The information contained within the appendices below may not be suitable to view for 
people with disabilities, users of assistive technology or mobile phone devices. Please 
contact josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk if you would like this document in an accessible 
format. 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
External Audit Plan 
CIPFA Code 
Code of Audit Practice 
Code of International Standards on Auditing 
 

Page 83

mailto:josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk


 

 

 
 
 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 
 

Council Meeting  Date 

External Auditors Audit Plan 2020/21 
External Auditors Audit Plan 2019/20 
External Auditors Audit Plan 2018/19 
 

05/07/21 
10/03/20 
24/04/19 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 

 

Page 84



P
age 85



Commercial in confidence

P
age 86



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 87



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 88



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 89



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 90



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 91



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 92



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•P
age 93



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 94



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 95



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 96

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/0fa69c03-49ec-49ae-a8c9-cc7a2b65382a/ISA-(UK)-540_Revised-December-2018_final.pdf


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

–

–

–

–

•

P
age 97



Commercial in confidence

P
age 98



Commercial in confidence

15

IT system Audit area Planned level IT audit assessment

Financial reporting •

P
age 99



Commercial in confidence

P
age 100



Commercial in confidence

P
age 101



Commercial in confidence

P
age 102



Commercial in confidence

19

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 103



Commercial in confidence

.

•

•

•

Ethical Standard (revised 

2019)

P
age 104

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/601c8b09-2c0a-4a6c-8080-30f63e50b4a2/Revised-Ethical-Standard-2019-With-Covers.pdf


Commercial in confidence

Certification of 

Housing Benefits 

Claim

TBC Self-Interest (because 

this is a recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee for this work will 

be below the total fee for the audit of £198,445 and in particular relative to Grant Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is 

a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These factors all mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable 

level.

Certification of 

Teachers’ Pensions 

return

TBC Self-Interest (because 

this is a recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee for this work will 

be below the total fee for the audit of £198,445 and in particular relative to Grant Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is 

a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These factors all mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable 

level.

Self-Interest (because 

this is a recurring fee)

This is an online software subscription service that enable users to rapidly analyse data sets. CFO Insights is a Grant Thornton

and CIPFA collaboration giving instant access to financial performance, service outcomes and socio-economic indicators for local

authorities.

It is the responsibility of management to interpret the information. The scope of our service does not include making decisions on 

behalf of management or recommending or suggesting a particular course of action. These factors mitigate the perceived self-

interest threat. The fee for the work is negligible in comparison to the total fee for the audit.

P
age 105



Commercial in confidence

22

Function Benefits for you

Data extraction Providing us with your financial 

information is made easier

File sharing An easy-to-use, ISO 27001 certified, 

purpose-built file sharing tool

Project 

management

Effective management and oversight of 

requests and responsibilities

Data analytics Enhanced assurance from access to 

complete data populations

P
age 106



Commercial in confidence

23

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 107



Commercial in confidence

P
age 108



Commercial in confidence



P
age 109



Commercial in confidence





•

•

•

P
age 110



Commercial in confidence



•

•

•



P
age 111



Commercial in confidence





P
age 112



P
age 113



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

  

 

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

Monday, 27 June 2022 
 

REPORT TITLE: EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN MERSEYSIDE PENSION 

FUND 2021-22 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this report is to inform Committee Members of the plan for the external audit 
of the Fund’s Statutory financial statements for 2021/22. 
 
Merseyside Pension Fund is required to subject its financial statements to external scrutiny 
before a final version is published to ensure compliance with statutory requirements. This 
scrutiny role will be carried out by the Council’s appointed auditors, Grant Thornton. During 
the summer Grant Thornton will undertake their audit of the relevant financial activities and 
provide verification of the Pension Fund’s financial statements.  The results of this audit will 
be reported back to the Committee.   
 
The purpose of the Audit Plan is to direct and communicate the audit approach to those 
charged with governance. The Audit Plan considers the risks to the audit in forming the 
Audit Opinion and details the approach to addressing the key areas of the Fund’s financial 
statements. 
 
The Council’s external auditors have produced the Audit Plan for their statutory audit of 
Merseyside Pension Fund 2021-22. 
 
The External Audit Plan can be found as an appendix to this report. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
The Audit & Risk Committee is asked to note the external audit plan for 2021/22 as 
prepared by Grant Thornton. 
 

Page 115

Agenda Item 11



 

 

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION 

 

1.1 The Audit Plan sets out the work the Pension Fund Auditors, Grant Thornton will be 
carrying out in their statutory audit on the Pension Funds financial statements and 
arrangements. The review of the Audit Plan supports Committee in fulfilling its 
responsibilities in relation to the financial reporting process and forms part of the 
governance arrangements. 

 
2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
2.1 Not relevant for this report. 
 
3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
  
3.1 Merseyside Pension Fund is required to subject its financial statements to external 

scrutiny before a final version is published to ensure compliance with statutory 
requirements.  

 
3.2 Grant Thornton have been appointed as the Council’s independent external auditors. 

Their annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 
issued by the Audit Commission and includes nationally prescribed and locally 
determined work. 

 
3.3 The purpose of the Audit Plan is to direct and communicate the audit approach to 

those charged with governance. The Audit Plan considers the risks to the audit in 
forming the Audit Opinion and details the approach to addressing the key areas of the 
Fund’s financial statements. 

 
3.4 The results of this audit, including the opinion on the Funds Annual Statement of 

Accounts and Annual Report will be reported back to the Committee.   
 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1  The audit fees will be met from within the revenue budget of the Pension Fund and 
IAS 19 assurance letter fees will be recharged to relevant admitted bodies.  The fees 
are set out in the Audit plan. 

 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Council has a statutory duty to produce annual accounts, this report provides 
Members with an understanding of management processes and the Fund’s oversight 
in particular areas that could have a significant impact upon the financial statements. 

 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING; ICT AND ASSETS 

6.1 There are no additional resource implications arising from this report. 

 

Page 116



 

 

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  

7.1 Grant Thornton will complete a risk-based audit whereby they will focus audit effort 
on those areas where they have identified a risk of material misstatement in the 
accounts. 

 
7.2 If any concerns identified by Grant Thornton are not addressed by the Pension Fund 

and the Council, then there is a risk that the Council will not be able to meet its 
statutory requirements in respect to the Statement of Accounts. 

 
8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  

8.1 There has been no consultation undertaken or proposed for this report. There are no 
implications for partner organisations arising from this report. 

 
9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 The content and/or recommendation contained within this report have no direct 
implications for equality.  The PDF file attached may not be suitable to view for 
people with disabilities, users of assistive technology or mobile phone 
devices. Please contact Donna Smith if you would like this document in an 
accessible format. 

 
10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 There are no environmental or climate implications arising from this report. 
 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The content and/or recommendation contained within this report have no direct 

implications for community wealth.   
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Donna Smith 
 Head of Finance & Risk 
 telephone  (0151) 242 1312 
 email donnasmith@wirral.gov.uk 
 

APPENDICES 

Grant Thornton External Audit Plan 2021/22.  
 
The information contained within the appendices below may not be suitable to view for 
people with disabilities, users of assistive technology or mobile phone devices. Please 
contact josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk if you would like this document in an accessible 
format. 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

External Audit Plan 2021/22 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Page 117

mailto:josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk


 

 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 
Pension Committee 

28 June 2021 
22 June 2022 
22  June 2021 
23 November 2020 
25 March 2019 

 

Page 118



P
age 119



P
age 120



P
age 121







P
age 122



•

•

•

•

P
age 123



•

•

•

P
age 124



•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 125



•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 126



•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 127



•

•

•

•

P
age 128



•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 129



•

P
age 130



P
age 131



14

   

  •
 

 •  
 

P
age 132



15

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 133



.

•

•

•

Ethical Standard (revised 
2019)

P
age 134



P
age 135



18

Function Benefits for you

Data extraction Providing us with your financial 
information is made easier

File sharing An easy-to-use, ISO 27001 certified, 
purpose-built file sharing tool

Project 
management

Effective management and oversight of 
requests and responsibilities

Data analytics Enhanced assurance from access to 
complete data populations

P
age 136



19

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 137



In ProgressP
age 138



P
age 139



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

  

 

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

Monday, 27 June 2022 
 

REPORT TITLE: REVIEW OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report comprises the biennial review of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPR) 
which regulate the way in which the Council’s contracts are procured. The last review took 
place in September 2020. 
 
The CPR underpin the fulfilment of the Wirral Plan 2021-2026, in particular the aim of 
achieving a prosperous inclusive economy where businesses can thrive and create jobs 
and opportunities for all at a sustainable financial cost to the Council. 
 
The report has no ward implications 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION/S 

 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee is requested to approve the changes to the 
Contract Procedure Rules that are highlighted in the appendix to this report and 
recommend to the Constitutional and Standards Committee their adoption by the full 
Council as part of the Council’s Constitution. 
 
 

Page 141

Agenda Item 12



 

 

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

1.0  REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

1.1 The Committee is required to review the CPR every 2 years. 

 

1.2  Since the last review in September 2020 the UK has withdrawn from the European 

Union (Brexit). The CPR need to reflect that event. 

 

1.3  An opportunity has been taken to simplify procedures for low value procurements 

below £25,000 so that procurement officers have more time to concentrate on higher 

value procurements. 

 

1.4  It is also proposed that the Head of Procurement is given more discretion to 

delegate to his senior officers the duty to decide whether approval should be given to 

requests for exceptions to the CPR and to approve contract extensions where the 

value is under £100,000. This will provide additional business continuity and 

resilience to the procurement service by reducing reliance on the availability of a 

single person to provide approvals. 

 

1.5   Some changes rationalise the terminology used in the CPR. 

 
2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 

2.1  Minimal changes to the CPR to reflect Brexit and necessary changes to terminology, 

were considered. 

 

2.2  On balance this option was rejected because it was considered that an opportunity 

should be taken to make minor changes to enable procurement officers to make a 

more efficient use of their time with regard to lower value procurements. 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
   

3.1 The Contract Procedure Rules regulate the way in which the Council procures its 

contracts. Their contents are constrained by statute which includes in particular 

compliance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (PCR). 

 

3.2 Until 1st January 2021 the PCR had to conform to the procurement rules prescribed 

by the European Union for the free trade area known as the Single Market. Since 

Brexit the UK is no longer part of the Single Market and such strict compliance is no 

longer necessary. The Government is consulting upon possible changes to the PCR 

which are, however, unlikely to be enacted in the immediate future. 

 

3.3 The changes proposed in the CPR are identified in the Appendix. They constitute the 

following categories. 

 

3.4 MINOR SUBSTANTIVE CHANGES 

Page 142



 

 

3.4.1 A report in July 2021 to the Council from CIPFA on procurement 

recommended that Council officers should be empowered to accept single 

quotations under £25,000 in value without competition in order to speed up 

procurement process for small value low risk contracts. Paragraphs 7.1,7.5.4 

to 7.5.5 ,7.5.9,8.1,9.1.1,18.5 to 18.6 and 19.2 have therefore been amended 

so as to remove the requirement to invite competitive quotations on the 

electronic tendering portal in respect of contracts between £2,000 and 

£25,000. Only one quotation would be required if approved by a senior 

commissioning officer who considered it value for money. There would be a 

prohibition on awarding a further contract to the same supplier within the same 

financial year unless it were the outcome of a competitive procurement. These 

safeguards are in paragraph 7.5.5. These proposed changes would enable 

procurement officers to make better use of their time by concentrating on 

higher value procurements which are increasing in volume not least because 

of the demands of the Council’s regeneration programme. There would still be 

a requirement to comply with the “No Purchase Order No Pay” rule. 

 

3.4.2 Paragraphs 12.2 and 13.2 have been amended to allow the Head of 

Procurement to delegate to his procurement officers decisions on whether to 

approve exceptions to the CPR and contract extensions in respect of 

contracts under £100,000 in value. This would allow the Head of Procurement 

to focus on higher value procurements where such decisions are required. 

The Head of Procurement is satisfied that his officers have the required  

skills and experience to make the necessary decisions on lower value 

procurements without causing any additional risk to the Council. 

 

3.4.3 Paragraph 11.5.2 has been amended so as to alter guidance on minimum 

insurance requirements for contractors to include £10m for Public Liability in 

place of £5m. 

 

3.4.4 Paragraphs 9.3.,10.6.3, and 10.5.2 have been changed so as to enable 

tenders and quotations to be amended after receipt to resolve not only 

arithmetical errors but also ambiguities. This should reduce the potential for 

disputes after the contract has been awarded. 

 

3.5   BREXIT RELATED CHANGES. 

                      

3.5.1 Examples are paragraphs 3.1,7.5.4, and 10.1.1. They reflect the new UK 

procurement processes that have replaced those which applied when the UK 

was a member of the European Union. 

 

3.6 MINOR PROCEDURAL CHANGES 

 

3.6.1 An example is paragraph 10.4 which has been amended to allow procurement 

officers to open tenders below £500,000 in value. Tenders above this figure 

will continue to be opened by an officer who is independent of the 

procurement activity. 

Page 143



 

 

3.6.2 Another example is 3.2.3 which now requires the Head of Internal Audit to 

report breaches of the Rules to Audit and Risk Management Committee if the 

breach relates to a procurement of £50,000 or more in value if he considers it 

to be necessary for the Committee to be aware of the breach.  

 

3.7 CHANGES IN TERMINOLOGY. 

 

3.7.1 Examples include the references to Procurement Smart Forms and the 

Tendering Portal which replace less apt terminology. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1  The CPR are intended to achieve value for money in the procurement of the 
Council’s contracts 

 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1  As explained above, the CPR must conform to the U.K’s legal framework for the 

procurement of public contracts. 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 As explained above, the proposed amendments to the CPPR are intended to make 

the most efficient use of limited staffing resources in the Procurement Section at a 

time when the volume of contracts to be procured is increasing. 

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 The CPR are an essential means of mitigating the risk that the Council’s contracts 

are awarded not on merit or on value for money but as a result of corruption or 

favouritism. The proposed changes mitigate that risk. 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1  The Legal, Procurement and Internal Audit officers have worked closely together in 

preparing this report. 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 

carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity. 

 
9.2      The CPR are intended to ensure that contracts are awarded on merit and not as a 

result of unlawful discrimination against potential suppliers or their employers. 
 

 
 
 

Page 144



 

 

10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The CPR have a Social Value criterion which can be used to procure contracts which 

improve the environment and mitigate the adverse consequences of climate change. 

11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 

11.1  The CPR have a Social Value criterion which can be used to award contracts which 

take into account economic benefits e.g. the training of apprentices as long as they 

are relevant to the subject matter of the contract. 

 
 
 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Colin Hughes 
  Solicitor: Department of Law and Governance 
  telephone:  0151 691 8502 
  email:  colinhughes@wirral.gov.uk 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 Contract Procedure Rules showing the proposed amendments 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
CIPFA recommendations on public procurement. 
 
 
 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

 
 
 Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee 
 
Full Council 
 
 

 
 

10 September 2020 
 
28 September 2020 

 

 
 
 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 1 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

 

CONSTITUTION 

OF THE COUNCIL 

Part 4 

Section 6 

CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

 
Contents 
 
1. Introduction 

 
2. Interpretations and Definitions 

 
3. Principles and Responsibilities 

3.1 Principles 
3.2 The Responsibilities of Officers and Members 

 
4. Contracts to which these Rules do not apply 

 
5. Contracts which do not require full competition 

5.1 Call-Off Contracts 
5.2 No Competitive market 
5.3 Exemptions as Prescribed by Legislation 

 
6. Corporate Contracts 
 6.1 Use of Corporate Contract 

 
7. Pre-Procurement Process 
 7.1 Authority to Carry Out Procurement Activity 
 7.2 Appraisal of the Procurement Activity 
 7.3 Framework Agreements 
 7.4 Pre-Procurement Market Research and Consultation 
 7.5  Estimating the Total Value of a Contract or Framework  

Agreement 
 7.6 Standards and Award Criteria 

 
8.   The Chest Tendering Portal 
 8.1 The use of the Chest Tendering Portal 
 
9. Quotations  
 9.1 Requests for Quotations 
 9.2 Submission and Receipt of Quotations 
 9.3 Amendments to Quotations 
 9.4 Evaluation of Quotations 
 9.5 Contract Award – Through a Quotation Process 
 

 

Page 147



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 2 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

10. Tenders 
 10.1 Invitations to Tender 
 10.2 Pre and Post Tender Clarification Procedures 
 10.3 Submission and Receipt of Tenders 
 10.4 Verifying and Opening Tenders 
 10.5 Amendments to Tenders 
 10.6 Evaluation of Tenders 
 10.7 Contract Award – through a Tender Process 
 10.8 Enquiries about the Tender Process 

 
11. Contract Provisions and Contract Formalities 
 11.1 Contract Provisions 
 11.2 Contract Formalities 
 11.3 Contracts under Seal 
 11.4 Transfer of Contracts 
 11.5 Insurance 

 
12. Waiving the Rules 
 12.1 Procedure Rules Approval Document 
 12.2 Summary Table 
 12.3 Exemptions 
 12.4 Exceptions 
 12.5 Records of Wavier 
 
13. Extension or Variation/Overspend of Contracts 
 
14. Sale of Council’s Goods or Assets 
 
15. Application of the Contract Procedure Rules to Schools 
 
16. Declarations of Interest, Anti-Bribery and Corruption 
 
17. Reporting to Members 
 
18. Contract Management 

 
19. Retaining Relevant Documents 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 148



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 3 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 These Contracts Procedure Rules are standing orders made pursuant to Section 135 

of the Local Government Act 1972, effective as of April 2016 and amended 
September 2020.  Compliance with the Rules and observance of domestic law from 
which they emanate (in particular the principles relating to non-discrimination, equal 
treatment and transparency) is mandatory for all Officers and Members.  The Rules 
ensure that procurement activity is undertaken in a legally compliant, transparent, fair 
and competitive manner. 

 
1.2 Decisions relating to procurement are among the most important decisions that can 

be made by the Council, its Members and Officers because the money involved is 
public money and the Council is concerned to ensure that high quality Goods, 
Services and the execution of Works are procured. Efficient use of resources in order 
to achieve Best Value is therefore imperative. 

 
1.3 These Rules shall apply to all procurement activity where the Council is to procure 

any Goods, Services or the execution of Works, or enters into a concessions 
Contract as either a contracting authority or commissioner of such, regardless of the 
origin of funding (such as external grants, partnership funding, pooled or joint 
budgets for example). 

 
1.4 For the avoidance of doubt, these Rules shall apply to Framework Agreements. 
 
1.5 Where relevant, the Council shall have regard to the Public Services (Social Value) 

Act 2012 (“the Act”).  This requires commissioners and procurers at the pre-
procurement stage to consider how / what is to be procured may improve social, 
environmental and economic well-being of Wirral, how it might secure any such 
improvement and to consider the need to consult.  The Council and Officers should 
refer to the Procurement Toolkit for further guidance. 

 
1.6 The Audit and Risk Management Committee shall monitor compliance with the Rules 

and undertake a review of the Rules every two years. Any failure to comply with any 
of the provisions of these Rules must be reported immediately to the Director of Law 
and Governance (Monitoring Officer).  Failure by any Officer or Member to comply 
with the provisions of these Rules may lead to disciplinary action being taken against 
them. 

 
1.7 The Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer) will keep these rules under 

review and have authority to make minor amendments as required, after consultation 
with the Head of Commercial Procurement. Any changes will be notified by the 
Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer) to Strategic Directors for 
dissemination to officers involved in procurement. Any significant changes require 
the consent of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 
 

1.8 The Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer), in consultation with the 
Head of Commercial Procurement, will fully review these rules every two years and 
report this review to the Audit and Risk Management Committee for approval. 
 

Page 149



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 4 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

1.9 These Rules should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Constitution and in 
particular the Financial Regulations, the Procurement Toolkit, any relevant guidance 
documents endorsed by the Council. 

 
2. Interpretations and Definitions 
 
2.1 In the event of any conflict between these Rules and Council Policy, the 

requirements of English law shall prevail over Council Policy. 
 
2.2 Any reference to legislation, primary or secondary, shall include any amendments / 

replacements made from time to time. 
 
2.3 All figures specified in these Rules are exclusive of VAT. 
 
2.4 In the event of any doubt as to the interpretation of these Rules, or as to proper 

procedure to be followed, advice should be sought from Corporate Procurement in 
the first instance and reference should be made to the guidance contained in the 
Procurement Took Kit which should be read in conjunction with these Rules. 

 
2.5 In these Rules the words and phrases below have the following meanings: 
  
 AO Authorised Officer and is any Officer, who 

has delegated authority from the SRO, to 
carryout commissioning functions. 

 
 Best Value has the same meaning as that defined in 

the Local Government Act 1999 as 
amended from time to time. 

 
 Bidder any Economic Operator that submits a 

Quotation or Tender. 
 
 Call-off an order made/call-off Contract entered into 

under a Framework Agreement and are 
subject to the application of Rule 5.1. 

 
 Category Manager the Category Manager is a procurement 

specialist who has responsibility for all 
stages of a procurement process for a 
defined group of products, services or 
works 

 
 Concessions the granting of a right (exclusive or 

otherwise) to an economic operator to 
exploit works or services provided for their 
own gain with or without payment. 

 
 Contract a legally binding agreement between the 

Council and the Contractor for the 
procurement by the Council of all Goods, 
Services, the execution of Works and 

Page 150



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 5 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

Concessions Contracts and which 
incorporates the terms and conditions 
under which the Goods, Services, 
execution of works and Concessions will be 
provided. 

 
 Contractor the Bidder or Tenderer who the Council 

enters into a Contract with following the 
submission of a Quotation or Tender and 
who is appointed by the Council to provide 
the Goods, Services, execution of Works or 
Concessions Contract.  They may also be 
referred to as ‘suppliers’, ‘providers’ or 
‘service providers’. 

 
 Contracts Finder or Find a Tender the web-based portal provided for the 

purposes of Part 4 of the regulations by or 
on behalf of the Cabinet Office. 

 
Corporate Procurement Provide advice and support at all stages of 

the procurement process regardless of 
value.  They will conduct procurement 
activity for contract of £25,000 or over in 
value. £5,000 or over in value. 

  
 Director of Resources (S151) the Senior Responsible Officer for Finance 

and is the most Senior Officer delegated in 
the Council’s Scheme of Delegation for 
Finance Services, the Officer appointed by 
the Council pursuant to S151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

 
 Economic Operator any natural or legal person or public entity 

or group of such persons and/or entities, 
including any temporary association of 
undertakings, which offers the execution of 
Works and/or a work, the supply of Goods 
or the provision of Services on the market. 

 
 EIR the Environmental Information Regulations 

2004. 
 
 Electronic Purchasing System (EPS) purchases made online. 
 
 Equality Duties The Council’s responsibilities as defined 

within the Equality Act 2010. 
 
   
Public Contract Regulations  Relevant Directives in force.  
 

Page 151



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 6 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

 Exemption/Exception the release of the obligation to comply with 
some or all of these Rules. 

 
 Financial Regulations the written code of procedures forming part 

of the Council’s Constitution which provide 
a framework for proper financial 
management and which set out the rules 
on accounting, audit, administrative 
procedures and budgeting systems. 

 
 FOIA the Freedom of Information Act 2000 
 
 Framework Agreement an agreement between one or more 

authorities and one or more economic 
operators, the purpose of which is to 
establish the terms governing Call-off 
Contracts to be awarded during a given 
period, in particular with regard to price 
and, where appropriate, the quantity 
envisaged. 

 
 Goods an inherently useful tangible item required 

by the Council, from time to time. 
 
 Head of Commercial Procurement the Senior Responsible Officer for all 

Council procurement activity. 
 
 Director of Law and Governance the Senior Responsible Officer for  
          (Deputy Monitoring Officer) Legal and is the most Senior Officer 

delegated in the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation for Legal Services. 

 
 Invitation to Tender an invitation issued by the Council to 

Tenderers to submit a Tender or a quote 
for the provision of Goods, Services, the 
execution of Works or a Concessions 
contract in accordance with the 
Specification or request for those Goods, 
Services, execution of works or 
Concessions Contract. 

 
Key Decision Key decisions are those as set out in Article 

13 of the Council’s Constitution. 
 

Law and Governance The Contract Team within Law and 
Governance Services can provide legal 
advice on high-value or complex 
procurements.  Officers are responsible for 
ensuring that Law and Governance 
Services are involved in all above threshold 
contracts and any contracts involving legal 

Page 152



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 7 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

issues for example TUPE or State Aid. The 
Contract Team within Law and Governance 
Services can provide legal advice on 
specialist IT, social care, education and 
housing related contracts. 

 
 Modification any variation to a Contract, including an 

extension or overspend 
 
 Officer any employee of the Council which shall 

include any person engaged by the Council 
to act as an agent or consultant on its 
behalf. 

 
 Procurement Smartform  
  
 Post Tender Report a summary of the outcomes delivered by 

the procurement activity. 
 
 SQ Qualification questionnaire and is the 

document used by the Council to screen 
potential Tenderers in accordance with the 
Regulations. 

 
 Procurement Smartform a document providing details of the 

procurement activity and the authority to 
commence it as required in accordance 
with Rule 7.1.or for the approval or 
notification of Exceptions to CPR’s; 
Extensions to Contracts ; Variations to 
Contracts Contract Award; Breach Notice. 

  
 
 Procurement Toolkit the documents which detail the processes, 

procedure and regulations to follow when 
carrying out a procurement activity. 

 
 Purchasing Cards transaction cards which work in a similar 

way to charge cards and can be used by an 
AO to purchase Goods and/or Services. 

 
 Quotation a formal offer submitted by a Bidder to 

supply goods, Services, execute Works or 
operate a Concessions Contract at a 
defined price. 

 
 Regulations the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, and 

The Concessions Regulations 2016, as 
amended or replaced from time to time, 
which implement the public procurement 
directives. 

Page 153



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 8 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

 
 Regulations Threshold the financial threshold identified by the UK 

Procurement RegulationsDirectives, as 
amended from time to time, and where 
applicable, requires the procurement 
activity to be subject to the Regulations. 

 
 Rules these Contract Procedure Rules 
 
 Scheme of Delegation the scheme identified within the Council’s 

Constitution which delegates powers and 
duties of the Council to Officers under 
Section 101 of the Local Government Act 
1972 and all other powers enabling such 
delegation necessary for the discharge of 
the Council’s functions. 

 
 SCM the Senior Category Manager or similar 

role with equivalent experience and 
seniority within Corporate Procurement 

 
 Services the time, effort and expertise required by 

the Council, from time to time, and supplied 
by a Contractor. 

 
 Specification the outputs, outcomes and the scope and 

nature of Goods, services, execution of 
Works or concessions Contract required by 
the Council from a procurement activity. 

 
 Social Value a requirement upon the contractor to 

improve the economic, social, and 
environmental wellbeing of the Borough of 
Wirral which is relevant and proportionate 
to the primary purpose of the procurement. 

 
 SRO Senior Responsible Officer and is the 

Officer delegated in the Council’s Scheme 
of Delegation for the relevant service with 
the responsibility for the award of the 
Contract. 

   
 Tender a formal offer submitted by a Tenderer to 

the Council at a stated price in response to 
a Specification to supply Goods, Services, 
execute Works or operate a Concessions 
Contract. 

 
 Tenderer any Economic Operator that submits a 

Tender. 
 

Page 154



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 9 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

 The Chest Tendering Portal the North West e-Sourcing portal. Wirral 
tendering and sourcing portal. 

 
 TUPE the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 

Employment) regulations 2006 as amended 
from time to time. 

 
 Value for Money the optimum combination of whole-life 

costs, price, quality and benefits to meet 
the Council’s requirement.  Such a term 
equates to the UK procurement 
requirement of most economically 
advantageous offer, as well as the duty of 
Best Value as defined by the Local 
Government Act 1999 as amended from 
time to time. 

 
 Works the provision of physical activity which is 

directed toward the production or 
accomplishment of something by the 
Contractor, from time to time. 

 
 Writing the requirement that any document should 

be in writing is satisfied where (apart from 
the usual meaning of that expression) the 
text of it is created and transmitted by 
electronic means, in legible form, and 
capable of being used for subsequent 
reference. 

 
 
3. Principles and Responsibilities 
 
3.1 Principles 
 
3.1.1 All procurement activity must comply with the obligation under the UK-EU Trade and 

Cooperation Agreement and where applicable the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
and the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 as amended, and any relevant 
retained EU legislation. all of the following principles of European Union (EU) Law: 

 
 a. free movement of Goods and Services; 
 ab. non-discrimination; 
 bc. openness/transparency; 
 cd. equal treatment for all; and 
 de. proportionality 
 
3.1.2 All procurement activity must be compliant with the latest EU laws, national 

legislation, and the Council Constitution and have regard to: 
 
 a. The need to achieve accountability through effective mechanisms which 

enable Officers and Members of the Council to maintain the highest standards 

Page 155



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 10 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

of integrity and honesty and to enable them to discharge their responsibility on 
issues of procurement risk and expenditure of public money; 

 b. The need to provide consistent procurement policy to suppliers and 
achieve competitive supply; 

 c. The need to meet commercial, regulatory and Corporate Priorities of the 
Council; 

 d. The need to achieve efficiencies by administering procurement processes 
which are cost effective. 

 e. The need to ensure Value for Money 
 f. The need to ensure fair-dealing by ensuring that suppliers are treated fairly 

and without unfair discrimination, including protection of commercial 
confidentiality where compatible with the Council’s obligations under FOIA and 
EIR; 

 g. The need to maintain integrity by excluding corruption or collusion with 
suppliers or others from procurement processes; 

 h. The need to ensure informed decision-making based on accurate 
information; 

 i. The need to ensure legality in the administration of procurement processes 
and award of contracts; 

 j. The need to promote responsiveness by endeavouring to meet the 
aspirations, expectations and needs of the community served by the 
procurement processes; 

 k. The need to provide transparency by ensuring that there is openness and 
clarity on the Council’s procurement policy and its delivery. 

 l. The need to create and retain an audit trail in relation to each 
procurement activity 

 m. The consideration of Risk 
 
3.2 The Responsibilities of Officers and Members 
 
3.2.1 Officers and Members involved in procurement activity must comply with these 

Rules, the Council’s Financial Regulations, and the Council’s Employees Code of 
conduct/Members Code of Conduct.  They must also have due regard to any 
guidance provided by Corporate Procurement. 

 
3.2.2  Failure to comply with any of these rules may be considered a breach of the 

Officers Code of Conduct and may result in disciplinary action.  
 
3.2.3 Where it becomes apparent that a Service has failed to comply with the CPRs a 

Breach Notice, as set out in the Procurement Smartform should be completed and 
submitted to the Head of Commercial Procurement and Internal Audit. Internal Audit 
will, if the breach exceeds £50,000 in value, submit a report to the Head of 
Commercial Procurement and the Director of Law and Governance (with appropriate 
recommendations) before reporting to Audit and Risk Management Committee 
and/or the Corporate Governance Group. Breaches up to £50,000 will be reported to 
the Corporate Governance Group by Corporate Procurement in consultation with 
Internal Audit. Where a breach exceeds £50,000 in value and the circumstances are 
considered to be within the control of the SRO, internal audit shall review and where 
necessary report to the Corporate Governance Group and the relevant SLT 
members with appropriate recommendations. Breaches will, if necessary be included 

Page 156



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 11 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

in the internal audit update report and submitted to Audit Risk Management 
Committee (ARMC).  

 
 
4. Contracts to which these Rules do not apply 
 
4.1 These rules do not apply to the following: 
 
 a. employment contracts for Officers engaged on a PAYE basis; 
 
 b. Contracts relating solely to the disposal or acquisition of securities and 

investments; - Treasury Management Strategy 
 
 c. Contracts for the acquisition of an interest in land and property; 
 
 d. Contracts for the appointment of Counsel or the appointment of experts for the 

purpose of legal or potential legal proceedings by the Director of Law and 
Governance (Monitoring Officer). 

 
5. Contracts which do not require full competition 
 

 The Senior Responsible Officer (SRO)/Authorised Officer (AO) must complete a 
Procedure Rules Approval Document (PRAD)  Procurement Smartform in 
accordance with Rule 12 where any of the circumstances outlined below are 
applicable and the procurement may be excepted from the requirement of Rule 9 
(Quotations) and Rule 10 (Tenders).  

 
5.1 Call-Off contracts 
 
5.1.1 Call-off Contracts where a suitable Framework Agreement has been identified in 

accordance with Rule 6.3. 
 
5.2 No competitive market 
 
5.2.1 Where any of the following circumstances apply and subject to Rule 5.2.2: 
 
 a. Proprietary or patented goods or services are proposed to be purchased which, 

in the opinion of the AO, are only obtainable from one person, and it can be 
demonstrated that no reasonably satisfactory alternative to those proprietary or 
patented goods is available; or 

 
 b. The AO can demonstrate that no genuine competition can be obtained in respect 

of the purchase of particular Goods, Services or execution of works; or 
 
 c. The AO is satisfied that the Services or execution of Works are of such a 

specialist nature that they can only be carried out by one person (e.g. statutory 
undertakers); or 

 
 d. Goods are proposed to be purchased by or on behalf of the Council at a public 

auction; or  
 

Page 157



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 12 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

 e. Goods or Services are proposed to be purchased which are of a specialist or 
unique nature (such as antiquities for museums or a particular performance 
artist)  

 
 Further guidance can be provided by Corporate Procurement and an AO must seek 

advice where there is any doubt and comply with Rule 10. 
 

5.2.2 The AO, in conjunction with the Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer)  
and, the Head of Commercial Procurement, shall ensure that the Contract terms and 
conditions are appropriate taking into account all relevant factors (such as benefit 
and risk to the Council) and ensure that the Contract complies with Rule 11. 

 
5.3 Exemptions as prescribed by legislation 
 
5.3.1 Certain other arrangements contained in domestic legislation may permit an 

exemption from the requirement for competition. Contact Corporate Procurement for 
advice. 

 
 
6   Corporate Contracts 
 
6.1 Use of Corporate Contract  
 
6.1.1 If a Council contract exists which covers the subject matter of the proposed 

procurement (a Corporate Contract) it must be used unless one of the following 
conditions applies: 
 

o The corporate contractor has confirmed that the goods or services are not 
available within the required timescale.  

o The corporate contractor has confirmed that they are unable to fulfil the 
requirement. 

o The corporate contract is subject to an unresolved dispute or an exit plan has 
been exercised. 

o The corporate contractor’s financial position has altered and a status of 
administration or liquidation has been applied.  

o The corporate contractor is in breach of contract and a termination notice has 
been issued. 

o The Corporate Contract is no longer value for money and the Council is 
entitled in law to procure the goods or services elsewhere. 

 
6.1.2 Where an officer seeks to no longer use a corporate contract, they will 

arrange for consent to be obtained in writing from the Head of Commercial 
Procurement.  

 
 
7. Pre-Procurement Process 
 
7.1 Authority to carry out procurement activity  
 
7.1.1 Any procurement activity carried out on behalf of the Council must be carried out by 

an SRO with the appropriate delegated authority as set out in the Scheme of 

Page 158



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 13 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

Delegation. For all procurement valued over £5000  of £25,000 or greater the SRO 
must submit a Procurement Smartform to Corporate Procurement, prior to starting 
the relevant procurement activity. By submitting the Procurement Smartform the 
SRO confirms that they have the authority and budget to carry out the procurement 
activity. When a single quote is obtained above £5000 up to the threshold of 
£25,000, this requires the senior or peer agreement of a DMT member of the 
relevant department prior to the proposed action. It is the responsibility of the 
commissioner to obtain this agreement and retain the appropriate evidence should it 
subsequently be required.  

 
7.1.2   Any proposed procurement for I.T. or Telecomms products or services must  

be referred to the Head of Digital by the SRO for approval to proceed further. This 
approval should be recorded by the SRO and Head of Digital. The Procurement 
Smartform can be completed and submitted when this approval has been granted. 

 
7.2 Appraisal of the procurement activity 
 
7.2.1 The AO, together with Corporate Procurement, must conduct an options appraisal of 

the route to market and consider the following: 
 
 a. Value for Money; 
 b. The need for the expenditure and its priority; 
 c. The objectives of the purchase; 
 d. Whether it is a Key Decision; 
 e. Any risks associated with the purchase and how to manage them; 
 f. The market; 
 g. TUPE and pensions; 
 h. Which procurement method is most likely to achieve the purchasing 

objectives; 
 i. Existing and compliant Framework Agreements or other arrangements; and 
 j. The economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the borough and the 

benefit which the procurement process can bring to the community and have 
regard to the duty to secure continuous improvement in accordance with Best 
Value, the Council’s Social Value Policy, Social Value Guidance and 
Social Value Framework. 

 
7.2.2 Where award for a Contract for services may result in employees of the Council or 

its Contractor transferring to a new employer, the advice of the Director of 
Resources and the Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer) must be 
obtained before the commencement of the procurement activity to ensure 
compliance with TUPE, and other related legislation, and to assess the implications 
in respect of pension arrangements. 

 
7.2.3 The AO must ensure that an appropriate Tender Specification or request for a 

Quotation commensurate to the scope of the Goods, Services, and execution of 
Works or Concessions Contract required is written prior to the commencement of 
any procurement activity.  Advice from Corporate Procurement must be sought 
where it is proposed that a Tender Specification or request for a Quotation is not 
used. 

 

Page 159



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 14 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

7.2.4 For procurement under the Regulations Thresholds, the use of PQQs is no longer 
permitted.  However, the Regulations do permit the use of suitability assessment 
questions where they are relevant to the subject matter of the procurement and are 
proportionate. Advice must be sought from Corporate Procurement where it is 
proposed that such questions are to be used. 

 
7.2.5  The Authorising Officer, together with Corporate Procurement, in all Supplier / 

Contractor sectors and areas identified as vulnerable to serious and organised crime 
include within the quotation / tender documentation the following statement: 

 
“Wirral Council has identified that the scope of this procurement falls within a 
business sector which may be attractive to infiltration by organised crime groups. 
Wirral Council therefore reserves the right to include enhanced probity checks / 
requirements at both the selection and award stages of the procurement.” as set out 
in the invitation to tender. 

 
7.3 Framework Agreements 
 
7.3.1 Where, following an options appraisal as required by Rule 7.2 a suitable Framework 

Agreement is identified, the AO must ensure that: 
 

 a. Any Call-off Contract is entered into in accordance with the terms of the relevant 
Framework Agreement; and 

 
 b. Where applicable, a mini- further competition (the tender process required by the 

Framework Agreement) is held in accordance with rules of the Framework 
Agreement. 

 
 c. Authority to proceed must be obtained from the Head of Commercial 

Procurement or his delegated representative. 
 
7.3.2 For the avoidance of doubt, a Framework Agreement is considered suitable where it 

has either been entered into by: 
 
 a. the Council in compliance with these Rules; or 
 
 b. another local authority, a local authority purchasing consortium or central 

government where the Framework Agreement has been tendered and 
awarded in accordance with public procurement legislation, and the Council is 
identified as a contracting authority. 

 
7.3.3 Where a Framework Agreement has been set up following an UK Tender, there must 

be full compliance with UK rules when awarding Call-off Contracts under it. 
 
7.4 Pre-Procurement Market Research and Consultation (Soft Market Testing can be 

referenced within Guide 9 of the Procurement Toolkit) and must be in accordance 
with Public Contract Regulations  

 
7.4.1 The AO responsible for the procurement activity and Corporate Procurement: 
 

Page 160



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 15 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

 a. may consult potential Bidders or Tenderers in general terms about the nature, 
level and standard of the supply, contract packaging and others relevant 
matters, prior to a request for a Quotation or an Invitation to Tender provided 
this does not prejudice any potential Bidders or Tenderers; and Before 
commencing a procurement procedure commissioners may conduct market 
consultations with a view to preparing the procurement and informing 
economic operators of their procurement plans and requirements; 

 
 b. must not seek or accept technical advice on the preparation of a request for a 

Quotation or an Invitation to Tender from anyone who may have a commercial 
interest in the tender, as this may prejudice the equal treatment of all potential 
Bidders and Tenderers or distort competition. For this purpose, 
commissioners may, for example, seek or accept advice from independent 
experts or authorities or from market participants; 

 
           c.        Such advice may be used in the planning and conduct of the procedure, 

provided that it does not result in a violation of the principles of non-
discrimination and transparency; 

 
          d.        Appropriate measures must be undertaken to ensure that competition is not 

distorted by participation of the candidate or tenderer in: 
                        

i. The communication to the other candidates and tenderers of relevant 
information exchanged in the context of or resulting from the 
involvement of the candidate or tenderer in the preparation of the 
procurement procedure 

ii. The fixing of adequate time limits for the receipt of tenders  
 

e.     The candidate or tenderer shall only be excluded from the procedure where             
              there are no other means to ensure compliance with the duty to treat economic   

        operators equally. 
 
f.       Prior to any such exclusion, candidates or tenderers will be given the     
         opportunity to prove that their involvement in preparing the procurement  
         procedure is not capable of distorting completion.  

 
 
 Advice and support must be sought from Corporate Procurement in all instances. 
 
7.5 Estimating the Total Value of a Contract or Framework Agreement 
 
7.5.1 The Council must not split Contracts or Framework Agreements to avoid public 

procurement rules or calculate the value of Contracts in such a way as to deliberately 
avoid exceeding the Regulation Thresholds or any threshold identified in these 
Rules.  Therefore all Contracts should be dealt with according to their total value and 
all Officers must calculate the total value (excluding VAT) of any Contract.  The value 
of a Contract should be calculated as follows and applies to the aggregate value of 
the Contract: 

 
 Yearly contract value X Contract Period in years (including any option to 

extend) = Total value 

Page 161



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 16 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

 
 Where the duration of the contract is indeterminate or is longer than four years, this 

should be taken to be the estimated value of the contract over a period of four years. 
 
7.5.2 The value of a Framework Agreement means the estimated amount payable by the 

users of the Framework Agreement for the Goods, Services or execution of Works 
(excluding VAT) under Call-off Contracts entered into over the entire possible 
duration of the Framework Agreement. 

 
7.5.3 Framework Agreements must not be for more than four years (including options to 

extend) unless otherwise authorised by the Director of Law and Governance 
(Monitoring Officer) and the Head of Commercial Procurement. 

 
7.5.4 The value of the Contract or Framework Agreement will determine which 

procurement activity to follow in accordance with Table 1 below subject to Rules 
7.5.6 and 7.5.7: 

 
Table 1 
 

 Goods, Services and Concessions 
  

Value Procurement Activity Quotation /Tender 
process Managed by: 

£0-£1,999.99 
 
 
£2,000 - £4,999.99  
£25,000 

No requirement for a 
quotation 
 
Minimum one Quotation 
in accordance with Rule 
8 - Quotations 

Departmental 
responsibility 

£5,000 - £49,999.99 
£25,000 – PCR 
Thresholds 
 
 
 
£50,000-£99,999.99 

Minimum three 
Quotations in 
accordance with Rule 9 
- Quotations 
 
Minimum of five 
quotations in 
accordance with Rule 9 

Corporate 
Procurement through 
The Chest the 
Tendering Portal (and 
Contracts Finder over 
£25k / Find a Tender) 

£100,000 and up to the 
Regulation Thresholds 

In accordance with Rule 
10 Tenders 

Corporate 
Procurement through 
The Chest and 
Contracts Finder 

Above the Regulation 
Thresholds 

In accordance with Rule 
10 – Tenders and the 
mMost appropriate 
procedure permitted by 
the Regulations 

Corporate 
Procurement through 
the Chest Tendering 
Portal, UK Notice and 
Contracts Finder / Find 
a Tender 

  
 *WHERE ANY OPPORTUNITY OVER £25k IS OPENLY ADVERTISED, IT MUST 

BE PLACED ON CONTRACTS FINDER BY CORPORATE PROCUREMENT 
 

Page 162



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 17 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

7.5.5 Where the value of the Contract is above the Regulation Thresholds, the AO and the 
Corporate Procurement will determine which procurement activity to follow in 
accordance with the Regulations. For procurements above £1,999, and below 
£25,000 the Director responsible for the procurement must make adequate 
arrangements to ensure that the chosen supplier is selected by reference to 
objective criteria such as technical ability and value for money and that the chosen 
supplier is not selected for any other contract within the same financial year without 
undergoing a competitive procurement. A written record of the decision making 
process must be kept and open to inspection by financial, legal and procurement 
officers.  

 
7.5.6 Irrespective of the value in Rule 7.5.4 Contracts and Framework Agreements that are 

subject to grant funding requirements shall be advertised in accordance with 
published guidance. 

 
7.5.7 The AO and Corporate Procurement shall ensure that, where proposed Contracts or 

Framework Agreements, irrespective of their value, might be of interest to potential 
Economic Operators located in other states, a sufficiently accessible advertisement 
is published. 

 
7.5.8 Quotations for construction works, below regulation thresholds, shall only be invited 

from contractors who are members of Constructionline and the Safety Scheme in 
Procurement (SSIP).   or any other comparable pre-selection model. If quotations are 
invited on a restricted basis, at least six contractors shall be invited to quote to be 
selected in accordance with the Council’s policy on the procurement of such 
contracts (available on the Procurement website). 

 
7.5.9 Where the value of the Contract is below £25,000, its procurement must comply with 

the general principles contained in Rule 3.1.2 and a Quotation sought if the 
procurement would otherwise not be so compliant. 

 
7.6 Standards and Award Criteria 
 
7.6.1 Before inviting Quotations or Tenders, the AO, with support from the Corporate 

Procurement, must ascertain any relevant British, international standards which 
apply to the subject matter of the Contract.  The AO must include those standards or 
equivalent where they are necessary to describe the required quality. 

 
7.6.2 The AO must define award criteria that is appropriate to the procurement activity and 

designed to secure an outcome giving Value for Money for the Council.  The basic 
award criteria shall include one of the following: 

 
 a. Most economically advantageous tender (“MEAT”) – where considerations 

other than price also apply; 
 b. Lowest price – where payment is to be made by the Council; 
 c. Highest price – if payment is to be received by the Council; 
 
 If MEAT is the chosen award criteria, advice must be obtained from Corporate 

Procurement to ensure that it is compatible with the UK Directives and the 
Regulations. 

 

Page 163



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 18 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

7.6.3 The AO must seek advice from Corporate Procurement to ensure any award criteria 
are compliant with relevant legislation and best practice. 

 
8 The Chest Tendering Portal 
8.1 The Chest is the Council’s e-sourcing  Tendering portal, which is shall be used for 

procurement activities of £25,000 and over above. 
a. The web based portal facilitates online tendering to ensure access to a wide 

spectrum of suppliers, process efficiency, standardisation and compliance. 
 
b. Officers must use this system for all procurement with a value of £25,000 and 

over above unless the Head of Commercial Procurement, Legal Services and 
Internal Audit haves provided written consent for an Exception.  

 
c. The elements of the procurement process carried out using The Chest  the 

Tendering Portal are highlighted below and within the Procurement Toolkit. 
 
9. Quotations 
 
9.1 Requests for Quotations 
 
9.1.1 All Quotations, including those in mini-further competitions under Framework 

Agreements, must be confirmed in writing before a decision to award can be made 
and all Quotations, £25000 and above over, must be stored on the Tendering Portal 
The Chest. 

 
9.1.2 When requesting a Quotation, an appropriate description of the Goods, Services, 

execution of Works or Concessions (commensurate with the value of the Contract) 
setting out the Council’s requirements in sufficient detail must be provided to 
prospective Bidders to enable the submission of competitive Quotations. 

 
9.1.3 The request for a Quotation shall also make reference to or include the following as a 

minimum: 
 
 a. the terms and conditions of Contract that will apply; and 
 b. notification that Quotations are submitted to the Council on the basis that they 

are compiled at the Bidder’s expense; and 
 c. a description of the award criteria as appropriate and in accordance with Rule 

7.6; and 
 d. the date and time by which a Quotation is to be submitted by; and 
 e. that the Council is not bound to accept any Quotations submitted. 
 
9.1.4 The proposed form of Contract must comply with Rule 11 and where possible the 

Council’s standard terms and conditions of Contract must be used.  Advice must be 
sought from Legal Law and Governance Services and approval given by the Director 
of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer) where alternative terms and conditions 
are used. 

 
9.1.5 Where requests for a Quotation are sought from more than one prospective Bidder, 

where possible, the request must be sent to each Bidder at the same time and 
contain the same conditions.  Any supplementary information must be given on the 
same basis. 

Page 164



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 19 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

 
9.2 Submission and Receipt of Quotations 
 
9.2.1 Unless agreed by Corporate Procurement, bidders must be given a minimum of two 

weeks in which to prepare and submit a Quotation, timescales should be consistent 
with the complexity of the Contract requirement and provide bidders with a 
reasonable opportunity to prepare and submit a Quotation. 

 
9.2.2 In the event that an abnormally low Quote is received, the AO must take advice from 

Corporate Procurement on how to proceed. 
 
9.2.3 Any Quotation (including all associated documents) submitted after the specified 

date and time for submission of Quotations shall only be accepted or considered by 
the Council with agreement from the Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring 
Officer)  and the Head of Commercial Procurement. 

 
9.2.4 If fewer than the minimum number of Quotations is received as stipulated in Table 1 

in Rule 7.5, then advice must be sought for a decision from the Head of Commercial 
Procurement as to whether to proceed.  Any decision must be recorded in writing 
and stored on the Tendering Portal. The Chest. 

 
9.3 Amendments to Quotations 
 
9.3.1 The Council may accept amendments to Quotations, including those in mini-further 

competitions under Framework Agreements, providing they are received prior to the 
closing date for submissions.  In such circumstances, any alterations must be made 
by resubmitting a new Quote and clearly highlighting which Quotation (and 
associated documents) is correct and which should be considered as part of the 
procurement activity. 

 
9.3.2 A Quotation may be amended after the closing date for submission if the amendment 

is made only in order to correct arithmetical errors or other obvious errors.  
ambiguities Such amendments may only be made with the prior approval of the 
Head of Commercial Procurement and Senior Manager Internal Audit. 

 
9.4 Evaluation of Quotations 
 
9.4.1 All compliant Quotations, including those in mini- further competitions under 

Framework Agreements, must be checked by the AO and validated to ensure they 
are arithmetically correct.  The AO must seek advice from Corporate Procurement if 
there is any doubt.  If arithmetical or other obvious errors are found they should be 
notified to the Bidder, who should be requested to confirm, or withdraw or seek 
permission to amend their Quotation.  If the rates in the Quotation prevail over the 
overall price, an amended Quotation may be requested to accord with the rates 
given by the Tenderer.  All amendments to correct any error may only be allowed at 
the discretion of the Head of Commercial Procurement who may seek advice form 
the Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer).  Any decision to allow an 
amendment must have regard to the general principles contained in Rule 3.1.2. 

 
9.4.2 Where MEAT the Most Economically Advantageous Tender is used as the award 

criteria, all evaluations including an explanation of the reasons for the scores should 

Page 165



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 20 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

be recorded by the AO, and where appropriate (£25,000 and above) recorded on the 
Tendering PortalThe Chest.  The AO must then confirm to Corporate Procurement 
that the Contract can be awarded in accordance with Rule 9.5 by submission of a 
Procurement Smartform. updating the PIA. 

 
9.4.3 Officers must ensure transparency and fairness during the evaluation process. 
 
9.5 Contract Award – through a Quotation Process 
 
9.5.1 The Contract will be awarded in accordance with the award criteria used. 
 
9.5.2 Where the Quotation is not within the relevant approved budget but additional 

budgetary provision is available, the relevant AO, with the approval of the Director of 
Resources (S151 Officer), may accept the Quotation ensuring compliance with the 
Financial Procedure Rules/Regulations. 

 
9.5.3 The approval to award the Contract must be given in accordance with the Council’s 

Scheme of Delegation.  
 
9.5.4 All award decisions must be recorded and a Procurement Smartform signed and 

dated by the SRO or delegated representative for the relevant service and, where 
necessary signed by the Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer) and 
the Head of Commercial Procurement e.g. if Rules 5 or 12 apply. 

 
9.5.5 Once the decision has been made and the approval given to award the Contract, the 

AO, through Corporate Procurement, must send a Contract award notice letter to the 
winning Bidder(s) and inform unsuccessful bidders of the outcome. 

 
9.5.6 Prior to commencement of the Contract, the Contract must be completed in 

accordance with Rule 11.2 unless Rule 11.2.5 applies. 
 
9.5.7 Law and Governance Services will, where necessary, advise on the formalities for 

completion of the contract by parties other than the Council and how to ensure that 
the Contract is legally binding. 

 
10. Tenders 
 
10.1 Invitations to Tender 
 
10.1.1 All Tender opportunities must be placed on the Tendering Portal The Chest and, 

where appropriate, Contracts Finder/Find a Tender in accordance with Table 1 at 
Rule 7.5. 

 
10.1.2 The Invitation to Tender shall include the following where appropriate: 
 
 a. A form upon which the Tenderer can provide details of its bid (“Form of 

Tender”); 
 b. A reference to the Council’s ability to award in whole, in part or not at all; 
 c. A Specification that describes the Council’s requirements in sufficient detail to 

enable the submission of competitive offers; 
 d. the terms and conditions of Contract that will apply; 

Page 166



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 21 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

 e. A requirement for Tenderers to declare that the Tender content, price or any 
other figure or particulars concerning the Tender have not been disclosed by 
the Tenderer to any other party (except where such a disclosure is made in 
confidence for a necessary purpose); 

 f. A requirement for Tenderers to fully complete and sign all Tender documents 
including the Form of Tender and certificates relating to canvassing and non-
collusion; 

 g. Notification that Tenders are submitted to the Council on the basis that they are 
compiled at the Tenderer’s expense; 

 h. A description of the award procedure and the evaluation criteria to be used to 
assess Tenders including any weighting as considered appropriate and in 
accordance with Rule 6.6.  The evaluation criteria must be clear, concise and 
unambiguous and must be approved by the AO in consultation with Corporate 
Procurement.  The evaluation criteria cannot be amended once published in the 
Invitation to Tender; 

 i. The method by which any arithmetical errors discovered in the submitted 
Tenders are to be dealt with and in particular, whether the overall price prevails 
over the rates in the Tender or vice versa; 

 j. Whether the Council is of the view that TUPE will be applicable in relation to the 
procurement activities; 

 k. Whether additional arrangements will be required in relation to pension 
provision; 

 l. Provisions relating to the Council’s termination rights in the event that 
corruption is discovered; 

 m. The relevance and application of any parent company guarantees and/or 
bonds; 

 n. That the Council is not bound to accept Tenders. 
 
10.1.3 The proposed form of Contract must comply with Rule 10 and where possible the 

Council’s standard terms and conditions of Contract must be used.  Advice must be 
sought from Legal Law and Governance Services and approval given by the Director 
of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer) where alternative terms and conditions 
are used. 

 
10.1.4 All Tenderers invited to Tender must be issued with the same information at the 

same time and contain the same conditions.  Any supplementary information must 
be given on the same basis. 

 
10.1.5 All communications relating to Tenders must be recorded on the Tendering Portal. 

The Chest. 
 
10.2 Pre and Post Tender Clarification Procedures 
 
10.2.1 Providing pre-Tender clarification to potential or actual Tenderers, or seeking 

clarification of a Tender, is permitted subject to Rule 9.2.3. 
 
10.2.2 Post-tender clarification may be undertaken with Tenderers only where it is essential 

in order to be completely clear about any fundamental aspect of the Tender 
submission before the completion of the Tender evaluation process and subject to 
Rule 10.2.3. 

 

Page 167



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 22 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

10.2.3 All pre- and post- tender communication must be conducted either in writing or in a 
meeting recorded by Corporate Procurement.  All correspondence or meetings must 
be documented and retained on the Tendering Portal The Chest.  Where a meeting 
is required, there must always be more than one Officer present. 

 
10.2.4 At all times during the clarification process, the Council shall consider and implement 

the principles of non-discrimination, equal treatment and transparency. 
 
10.2.5 Unless otherwise permitted by the Regulations, in no circumstances are post-award 

negotiations permitted that would materially change the contract. 
 
10.3 Submission and Receipt of Tenders 
 
10.3.1 Tenderers must be given a reasonable period in which to prepare and submit a 

proper Tender, consistent with the complexity of the Contract requirement and in 
accordance with the Regulations. 

 
10.3.2 Any tender (including all associated documents) submitted after the specified date 

and time for submission of Tenders shall only be accepted or considered with 
agreement from the Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer)  and Head 
of Commercial Procurement. 

 
10.3.3 All Tenders received, including those in mini- further competitions under Framework 

Agreements, must remain unopened until the specified closing date and time has 
passed. 

 
10.3.4 If less than the minimum number of Tenders is received as stipulated in Table 1 in 

Rule 7.5, then advice must be sought for a decision from the Head of Commercial 
Procurement on how to proceed.  Any decision must be recorded in writing and 
stored on the Tendering Portal The Chest. 

 
10.4 Verifying and Opening Tenders 
 
10.4.1 Tenders for contracts valued at £500,000100k and or above must be opened and 

verified by an Officer who is independent of the procurement activity to which the 
Tender relates. 

 
10.4.2 Tenders below £500,000£100k must be opened and verified by Corporate 

Procurement.   
 
10.4.3 All tenders must be submitted through the Tendering Portal Chest, unless an 

exception in writing has been obtained from the Head of Commercial Procurement. 
 
10.4.3 A record of all tenders received will be kept and will include; 

- service name 
- contractor’s names 
- tender value 
- date 
- reason for any disqualifications 
- name of those who were invited but did not submit a tender 

Page 168



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 23 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

10.4.4 Any request for an extension to a tender period by an AO must be made no later 
than 3 working days before the tender closing date and agreed by the Head of 
Commercial Procurement. If an extended date is permitted all tenderers must be 
advised. 

 
10.5 Amendments to Tender 
 
10.5.1 The Council may accept amendments to Tender submissions, including those in 

mini- further competitions under Framework Agreements, providing they are received 
prior to the closing date for submissions. 

 
10.5.2 A Tender may be amended after the closing date for submission if the amendment is 

made only in order to correct arithmetical errors or or ambiguities other obvious 
errors. Such amendments may only be made with the prior approval of the Head of 
Commercial Procurement and Internal Audit informed. 

 
10.6 Evaluation of Tenders 
 
10.6.1 If a PQQ or an expression of interest prior to PQQ was used, all those Tenderers 

must be given feedback at the relevant stage. 
 
10.6.12 In the event that an abnormally low Tender is received, the AO must take advice 

from Corporate Procurement on how to proceed. 
 
10.6.23All compliant Tenders, including those in mini- further competitions under 

Framework Agreements, must be checked by the AO and validated to ensure they 
are arithmetically correct.  The AO must seek advice from Corporate Procurement if 
there is any doubt.  If arithmetical errors or other ambiguities obvious errors are 
found they should be notified to the Bidder, who should be requested to confirm, or 
withdraw or seek permission to amend their Tender.  If the rates in the Tender 
prevail over the overall price, an amended Tender may be requested to accord with 
the rates given by the Tenderer.  All amendments to correct any error may only be 
allowed at the discretion of the Head of Commercial Procurement who may seek 
advice form the Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer).  Any decision 
to allow an amendment must have regard to the general principles contained in Rule 
3.1.2. 

 
10.6.3 Where the Most Economically Advantageous Tender MEAT is used as the award 

criteria, all evaluations including an explanation of the reasons for the scores should 
be recorded on the Tendering Portal The Chest.  The AO must then confirm to 
Corporate Procurement that the Contract can be awarded by updating the 
SmartformPIA. 

 
10.6.4 During the evaluation process, the evaluation of quality should be separate 
           from that of price to ensure so that one cannot influence the other before the 
           final scoring of bids is completed. Unless agreed with Corporate the Head of 

Procurement all evaluation criteria should be based on the standard scoring model. 
For contracts valued at £100k or above, Social Value must be applied to the 
evaluation and will be a minimum of 5% and a maximum of 20% of the scoring 
model. 

 

Page 169



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 24 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

10.6.5 .6  
 

 Officers must ensure transparency and fairness during the evaluation process. 
 
10.7  Financial Evaluations 
 
10.7.1 Corporate Procurement shall obtain financial profile reports of bidders for all 

 appropriate procurements of £1005k and above. 
 
10.7.2 Financial profile reports for procurements ofup to £100k and above, shall be                  
          considered jointly by the commissioning service and Corporate Procurement for the  
          purposes of deciding to include the bid in the evaluation stage. Financial profile      
          reports for procurements equal in value to the appropriate  of  Regulation PCR      
Threshold threshold £100k and above shall be submitted to  
          the Director of Resources (S151) for the approval or rejection of the bidder to  
          proceed  to the evaluation stage in accordance with the following principles. 
 
10.7.3 No tender shall be rejected on the grounds of lack of financial standing 

unless the criteria for rejection areis clearly stated in the published pre-tender 
documentation and the tender can be rejected in accordance with those 
criteria. 

 
10.7.4 The financial standing criteria must comply with Regulation 58 of the Public 

Contracts Regulations 2015 as being related to and proportionate to the subject 
matter of the contract and compliant with the requirements on minimum yearly 
turnovers and ratios between assets and liabilities set out in the Regulation. 

 
10.7.5 Where the Director of Resources (S151) considers it to be 

 necessary, annual accounts shall be obtained from bidders for appraisal. 
 
10.7.6 The appraisal of financial profile reports for procurements of £100k and 

above shall be supported by the completion of an approval request by Corporate 
Procurement and issued to the Director of Resources (S151) for approval or 
rejection.in accordance with the above requirements 

 
10.8 Contract Award – through a Tender process 
 
10.8.1 The winning Tenderer shall be awarded the Contract in accordance with the   award 

criteria used. 
 
 
10.8.2 Where the Tender is not within the relevant approved budget but additional 

budgetary provision is available, the relevant SRO, can only accept the tender by 
having prior approval of the Director of Resources (S151 Officer), and complying with 
the Financial Regulations. 

 

Standard Scoring Model 

 Contracts up to 
£100k 

Contracts of £100k 
and more 

Price  70% 65% 

Quality 30% 20% 

Social Value Discretionary 15% 

Page 170



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 25 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

10.8.3 The approval to award the Contract must be given in accordance with the Council’s 
Scheme of Delegation. 

 
10.8.4 All award decisions must be recorded and a Procurement Smartform signed and 

dated by the SRO for the relevant service and where necessary signed by the 
Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer)  and the Head of Commercial 
Procurement e.g. if Rules 5 or 12 apply. 

 
10.8.5  A contract which has a contract value above the Regulation thresholds can only be 

awarded after a notice of the proposed award has been given to all unsuccessful 
Tenderers and the 10 day standstill period has elapsed from the date the notice 
was given.  If the 10 days expire on a non-working day, then the notice period will 
be deemed to have lapsed on the next working day. 

 
10.8.6 Once the decision to award a Contract is made, each Tenderer must be notified by 

the AO and Corporate Procurement in writing of the outcome.  All Tenderers must 
be notified simultaneously and as soon as possible of the intention to award the 
Contract to the successful Tenderer(s) and this should be done via the Tendering 
Portal The Chest.  The letters must include a description of the relative advantages 
of the successful Tenderer. 

 
10.8.8 All challenges by Tenderers must be dealt with immediately by the SRO/AO, in 

consultation with Law and Governance Services and Corporate Procurement, 
before the award process proceeds. 

 
10.8.9 Prior to commencement of the Contract, the Contract must be completed in 

accordance with Rule 11.2 unless Rule 11.2.5 applies. 
 
10.8.10 Law and Governance Services will, where necessary, advise on the formalities for 

completion of the contract by parties other than the Council and how to ensure that 
the Contract is legally binding. 

 
10.8.11 The AO and Corporate Procurement must publish a contract award notice in 

accordance with Public Procurement Regulations and on the Council’s eSourcing 
Portal no later than 48 days after the date of award of the Contract where a 
Contract value exceeds the Regulation threshold and has been tendered pursuant 
to the Regulations or is subject to the relevant provision of the Regulations relating 
to Contract award. 

 
10.8.12 Contract award letters, feedback to Tenderers and the contract Terms and 

Conditions, including any incidental documentation must be approved by Corporate 
Procurement prior to sending, where the value of the Contract is over the 
Regulation Thresholds. 

 
10.8.13 Contract award letters and notices must be issued through the Tendering Portal 

Chest unless otherwise authorised by the Head of Commercial Procurement  
 
10.9 Enquiries about the Tender process 
 

Page 171



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 26 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

10.9.1 The confidentiality of Tenders and the identity of Tenderers must be preserved at 
all times insofar as this is compatible with the Councils’ obligations under FOIA and 
EIR. 

 
10.9.2 If the Council receives a request for information under the FOIA as a result of the 

de-briefing process, the request must be referred to both the Head of Commercial 
Procurement and the relevant Officer of the Council who deals with such requests.  
The Council will be responsible for responding to the request. 

 
10.9.3 Any challenges, complaints or requests for feedback, clarification or further 

information must be referred to the Head of Commercial Procurement who will 
advise on how to respond and notify the Director of Law and Governance 
(Monitoring Officer). 

 
11. Contract Provisions and Contract Formalities 
 
11.1 Contract Provisions 
 
11.1.1 All contracts must be in writing and must set out the parties’ obligations, rights and 

risk allocations.  Advice must be sought from Corporate Procurement as to the 
appropriate form of Contract to be used and where possible, be on the Council’s 
standard terms and conditions. 

 
11.1.2 All contracts, irrespective of value, shall, where appropriate, clearly specify as a 

minimum: 
 
 a. What is to be supplied (i.e. the Works, materials, services, matters or things to 

be furnished, had or done) 
 b. The provisions for payment (i.e. the price to be paid and when) 
 c. The time, or times, within which the contract is to be performed 
 d. The provisions for the Council to terminate the Contract and break clauses. 
 e. The provision for collateral warranties from sub-contractors. 
 f. The provision of Bond of Surety where applicable, Legal and Procurement to 

advise. 
 f. Dispute resolution process. 
 
11.1.3 Law and Governance egal Services can provide advice on Contract specific terms 

and conditions. 
 
11.2 Contract Formalities 
 
11.2.1 Once a decision to award has been made in accordance with Rule 9.5.3 or 10.7.3, 

the contract must be either be signed by the Officer authorised to award the 
Contract under Council’s Scheme of Delegation or by Seal and in accordance with 
Rule 11.3.2. 

 
11.2.2 Where the Contract is to be in writing, the AO must arrange with Law and 

Governance egal Services for the Contract including all schedules and appendices 
to be signed by all parties.  This can be done in two ways: 

 

Page 172



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 27 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

 a. Sending bound hard copies of the Contract to the winning Bidder(s) or 
Tenderer(s) for signing; or 

 
 b. Sending electronic copies of the Contract to the winning Bidder(s) or 

Tenderer(s) for printing, binding and signing. 
 
11.2.3 Before arranging for the Contract to be signed or sealed on behalf of the Council, 

the Law and Governance egal Services must check that the returned signed 
Contract has not been amended or altered by the winning Bidder(s) or Tenderer(s) 
without prior written agreement by the Council. 

 
11.2.4 All Contracts which are to be formally completed in writing must be completed 

before the Goods are supplied, or the Service, execution of Works or Concessions 
Contract begins, except in exceptional circumstances, and then only with the prior 
approval from the Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer). 

 
11.2.5 All contracts must include clear provisions as to the amounts and timing of 

payments due under the contract. Payments should be paid in arrears upon the 
production of satisfactory evidence of performance. Where the total amount 
payable under the contract cannot be ascertained the contract must include a clear 
mechanism for calculating the amounts due, for example by reference to a bill of 
quantities or schedule of rates, and the maximum amount payable must be stated.  

 
11.2.6 Approval of the relevant SRO and the Head of Commercial Procurement is required 

if payment is required in advance or partially in advance as necessary for provision 
of the service or in line with statutory guidance. Evidence of such approval and the 
reasons for it must be recorded.  

 
11.2.7 A purchase order must be raised in the e-Procurement system for all goods, 

services and works requirements to be acquired through an EPS and for all 
Contracts. The purchase order must attach the terms and conditions of Contract 
between the Council and the Contractor. The exception to this is where payment is 
to be made by certificate within the contract conditions. 

 (e.g. New Engineering Contract 3) 
 
11.2.8 The AO must ensure that the person signing on behalf of the Contractor has 

requisite legal authority to bind the Contractor.  Where there is any doubt, the AO 
must seek advice from Legal Services. 

 
11.3 Contracts under Seal 
 
11.3.1 A Contract must be sealed where: 
 
 a. The Council wishes to extend the liability period under the Contract and enforce 

its terms for up to 12 years; or 
 b. The price to be paid or received under the Contract is a nominal price and does 

not reflect the value of the goods or services; or 
 c. There is any doubt about the authority of the person signing for the other 

contracting party; or 
 cd. The Contract value is £100,000 or above. 
 

Page 173



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 28 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

11.3.2 The seal must be affixed in accordance with the provisions of the Council’s 
Constitution. 

 
11.3.3 All contracts with a value of £100,000 or over will be sealed as a Deed by  Law and 

Governance egal Services.  Contracts between £50,000 and £100,000 in value 
shall be signed by an authorised signatory from Law and Governance Services. 

 
11.3.4 When the steps for finalising the contract are complete the contract can be issued 

to the supplier for execution as a Deed or for signature (as appropriate). 
11.3.5 The supplier will seal or sign the contracts in duplicate but leave them undated. 
11.3.6 Law and Governance Services must notify Corporate Procurement, Finance and 

the relevant SRO when the contract has been executed. 
11.3.7 The contract will be dated when the Council’s seal is affixed. 
11.3.8 Electronic signatures may be used in accordance with the Electronic Signatures 

Regulations 2002, provided the security arrangements have been approved by the 
relevant SRO. 

 
10.4 Transfer of Contracts 
 
11.4.1 No Contract should be transferred from one Contractor to another without first 

consulting Law and Governance Services.  Contracts can only be transferred if 
approved in accordance with the table below: 

  

Value of Contract/Quote Decision Maker 

All values Director of Resources (S151 Officer) 
and the Director of Law and 
Governance (Monitoring Officer) or 
their nominees in accordance with 
the Council’s Scheme of Delegation 
and consultation with the Head of 
Commercial Procurement  

 
11.5 Insurance 
 
11.5.1 The AO is responsible for checking that all chosen contractors provide written 

evidence of adequate insurance to cover public liability, employers’ liability and if 
necessary professional indemnity for the full duration of the contract. 

11.5.2 Indemnity levels must reflect the risk to the Council which typically will be for each 
and every contract; 

- £105 million for Public liability 
- £510 million for Employers liability (or statutory minimum) 
- £2 million for Professional indemnity 

11.5.3 In some cases where the contract is of low risk the levels required may be 
reduced but only following written consent of the Director of Resources (S151 
Officer) or nominee. For major contracts of long duration where contractor’s 
exposure to liability is high, it may be appropriate to require higher limits. 

 
 
 
12. Waiving the Rules 
12.1 Procedure Rules Approval  

Page 174



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 29 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

12.1.1 Where an Officer intends to seek an exemption or exception to these rules as they 
apply to all procurements they shall arrange for consent to be obtained in writing. 
a. Such consent shall be evidenced on a Procurement Smartform Document signed 

by the authorised appropriate Officer/s depending on the value of the 
procurement as set out in the table below prior to the start of the procurement 
process. 

b. The Procurement Smartform must be completed by the SRO/AO quoting which 
of the Exceptions  listed below apply and why.  The Procurement Smartform 
must be checked by Law and Governance egal Services and Procurement prior 
to signing by the authorised Officer/s. 

c. Consent to waiving the rules will only be approved in exceptional circumstances 
and only when the Public Contract EU Procurement Rregulations do not apply.  

12.2 Summary Table: Officers authorised to approve waiving of the Contract 
Procedure Rules 

 
 

 
12.3 Exemptions 
12.3.1 Contracts which are exempt from the application of the Regulations and these rules 

include: 
a. Contracts relating solely to the acquisition or disposal of an interest in land and 

buildings  
b. Transactions conducted by the Director of Resources (S151 Officer) in respect of 

dealing in the money market or obtaining finance for the Council 
c. Employment contracts 

12.4 Exceptions  
12.4.1 Requests to waive these rules for under UK threshold contracts (or where the 

thresholds do not apply) may be authorised in the following circumstances, 
supported in all cases by appropriate evidence; 
a. goods, services or execution of works are obtainable only from one source or 

contractor and there is no reasonably satisfactory alternative. 
 
b. compatibility issues such that procurement from another source would be 

uneconomic given the investment in previous infrastructure; 
 

Under 
£510,000 

Under 
£1050,000 

Under 
£100,000 

£100,000 and 
over 

Over threshold 

Category 
Manager 

Senior 
Category 
Manager  

Head of 
Commercial 
Procurement 
or Delegated 
representative 

Approval of 
Head of 
Commercial 
Procurement 
and Director of 
Law and 
Governance 
(Monitoring 
Officer) or 
Delegated 
representatives 

Unable to waive 
unless exempt from 
the Regulations 
and the Chief 
Executive, Director 
of Law and 
Governance 
(Monitoring Officer) 
and the Head of 
Commercial 
Procurement 
provide prior 
approval 

Page 175



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 30 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

c. a waiver of the rules would be in the interests of the Council, be lawful, and 
provide value for money; 

 
d. Where there is a legal requirement to contract with a particular supplier. 
 
e. Contracts awarded to sole suppliers because of exclusive rights. 

 
12.5 Records of Waiver 
12.5.1 All exemptions or exceptions should be recorded by Corporate Procurement in the 

Contract Procedure Rules Exceptions Register and be available for inspection as 
required.  All original Procedure Rules Approval Document evidencing waiving of the 
rules must be available when required.kept in the register. 

 
13. Extension or Variation/Overspend of Contracts 
13.1 The relevant SRO must not enter into variations or overspends which are within the 

scope of the original procurement but would increase the value of the contract singly 
or cumulatively by an additional 5%  for contracts which are valued at £100,000 or 
more and 10% contracts up to £100,000  beyond the approved budget without the 
approval of the Director of Resources (Chief Finance Officer). A business case will 
be required to obtain this approval. Evidence of such approval must be recorded in 
writing in a Procurement Smartform. 

 
13.2 Contract extensions  must be considered for approval by the Director of Resources 

and the Head of Corporate Procurement (or delegated representatives). Evidence of 
approval granted or rejected must be recorded in writing in a Procurement 
Smartform 

 
Summary Table: Procurement Officers authorised to approve contract 
extensions. 
 
Extensions 
 

Under 
£510,000  

Under 
£1050,000  

 
£1050,000 
and above  

Category 
Manager  

Senior 
Category 
Manager 

Head of 
Procurement 
or Delegated 
representative  

 
 
 

13.2 The Head of Commercial Procurement will keep a record of such approvals. 
 
13.3 The SRO can extend or vary a contract provided; 

- there is provision within the contract to extend (and this has not already been 
utilised to its full extent) 

- the budget has been confirmed in writing or confirmation there is the budget 
available 

Page 176



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 31 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

- authority is recorded in writing and 
- Legal Services prepare the documentation to record the terms of the 

extension or variation (if necessary depending upon the provisions of the 
contract). 
 

13.4 If there is no provision within the contract notice or in the contract terms for 
extensions, legal advice should be sought. 

 
13.5 Legal advice must be sought on the need to re-procure if changes amount to a 

significant or material alteration to the contract advertised or there is a proposed 
change to a named subcontractor. 

 
14. Sale of Council Goods or Assets 
 
14.1 When selling Council goods or assets Officers must comply with the aims of these 

rules (Rule 3) specifically the need to achieve best value, ensure transparency, 
openness, nondiscrimination, probity and accountability. 

 
14.2 Appropriate authority under the relevant scheme of delegation for the sale must be 

evidenced before commencing the sale process. 
 
14.3 The table below sets out the minimum measures Officers must take to ensure that 

sales achieve best value. 
 

Sale with value of under 
£10,000 

Sale with value 
under £50,000 

Sale with value over 
£50,000 

Minimum of 3 offers 
required wherever 
possible 

Procurement  to 
advise on the need 
to advertise to 
achieve an 
appropriate level of 
interest 

Advertise sale 
appropriately 

 
14.4 Corporate Procurement can advise officers on compliance regarding sales if 

required. 
 
15. Application of the Contract Procedure Rules to Schools 
 
15.1 The Schools Fair Funding Scheme (FFS) governs the management by each school 

of its delegated and devolved budget as determined in s.48 of the School’s 
Standards and Framework Act 1998. Schools (other than academies) are 
encouraged expected to follow these Rules, (unless Governing bodies have taken 
decisions to change reporting arrangements) but where there is conflict between the 
Rules and the FFS, the FFS will take precedence. 

 
16. Declarations of Interest, Anti-Bribery and Corruption 
 
16.1 The Council’s reputation with regards to procurement activity is important and should 

be safeguarded from any imputation of dishonesty or corruption. All elected 
Members and Officers are reminded of their responsibilities in relation to gifts, 
hospitality and any conflicts of interest and should ensure they comply with the 

Page 177



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 32 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

obligations set out in the Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct and Officers’ Code of 
Conduct respectively and any other relevant policies, guidance or strategies relating 
to bribery, fraud and corruption issued or endorsed by the Council from time to time. 

 
16.2 Any Member or Officer must declare any interest which could influence their 

judgment in relation to procurement activity in accordance with the Council’s Code of 
Conduct. 

 
16.3 No gifts or hospitality should be accepted from Bidders or Tenderers involved in 

procurement activity except in accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 
16.4 Members and Officers involved in a procurement process must not have contact with 

Bidders or Tenderers whilst documents are out to tender or whilst bids are being 
evaluated, except, formally, through the Tendering Portal Chest. Exceptional 
circumstances, where contact forms part of the process, can only be conducted with 
the prior written consent of the Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
and Head of Commercial Procurement. 

 
17. Reporting to Members 
 
17.1 The Officer responsible for awarding the Contract shall notify in writing the Head of 

Commercial Procurement who shall report at half yearly intervals to the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee, whenever; 

• a contract is awarded the total value of which exceeds £500,000 or 

• a variation or extension to a contract value of £100,000 of greeater is 
approved by the Director of Resources (S151 Officer) or 

• there is a waiver of the Contract Procedure Rules in relation to a contract 
which exceeds £1050,000 in value. 
 

18. Contract Management 
 
18.1 All Contracts must have a Council Contract Owner for the entirety of the Contract.  

In the event that there is no named Contract Owner the AO will fulfil the role of 
Contract Owner. 

 
18.2 The Contract Owner will be responsible for reviewing monitoring and evaluating the 

contract to ensure that its provisions and the services within it are being followed 
and performed as they should be. 

 
18.3 During the life of the Contract, the Contract Owner should monitor the Contract in 

respect to the following: 
 
 a. Performance (against agreed KPIs where relevant); 
 b. Compliance with specification and contract; 
 c. Cost; 
 d. Any Best Value duties; 
 e. Continuous Improvement; 
 f. user satisfaction; and 
 g. Risk Management 
 h. Be responsible, in accordance with the Council’s Equality Duties, for ensuring 

that workforce profiles are submitted annually from all contractors.   

Page 178



 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Section 6 - Contract Procedure Rules 

Pg 33 
(28th September 2020) 

  
 

 
18.4 Where the Contract is to be re-let, this information should be available early enough 

to inform the approach to re-letting the next contract. 
 
18.5 Corporate Procurement can provide advice and support on good practice in 

performance management of Contracts £25,000 and over 
 
18.6 All Contracts, £25,000 and over, must be included and published on the Contracts 

Register maintained by Corporate Procurement in line with the Local Government 
Transparency Code 2014.  This is a mandatory requirement and it is the 
responsibility of the SRO for each Service to ensure that they have informed 
Corporate Procurement of the Contracts they are responsible for and provided 
them with the information necessary to update the Contracts Register accordingly. 

 
19. Retaining Relevant Documents 
 
19.1 All records in relation to the award of Contracts and the associated procurement 

process, including supporting documentation, shall be stored by Corporate 
Procurement in an electronic filing system to be available for inspection by the 
Council’s internal and external auditors, or Officer, immediately upon request.  
Records will be retained in accordance with relevant regulations applicable to 
electronic record retention. 

 
19.2 Records of contracts shall be retained as follows: Hard copies of all written contracts 

shall be retained, by Records Management, as follows: 
  

Contracts with a value between 
£25,000 and £249,999 

for six years after the end of the 
Contract 

All sealed Contracts and Contracts with 
a value of £250,000 and above 

For twelve years after the end of the 
Contract 

Contracts that are grant funded 
regardless of value 

Must comply with retention period 
above or the terms and conditions of 
the grant, whichever is the longer 

 
19.3 If legislation related to any individual Contract stipulates a longer retention period 

than this, then the legislation requirements takes precedence over the Council’s 
minimum periods. 

 
19.4 Once executed, the Council shall retain one original of the complete Contract 

documents in line with the timescales in the table above and one copy of the 
complete Contract documents shall be provided to the Contractor.  

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE
	Enc. 1 for INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE

	7 ANNUAL ARMC REPORT 2021-22
	Enc. 1 for ANNUAL ARMC REPORT 2021-22

	8 CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITORS ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION 2021-22
	Enc. 1 for CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITORS ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION 2021-22

	9 Corporate Risk Management Update
	Enc. 1 for Corporate Risk Management Update

	10 EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN WIRRAL COUNCIL 2021-22
	Appendix 1 - EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN WIRRAL COUNCIL 2021-22

	11 EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND 2021-22
	Appendices - EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND 2021-22

	12 REVIEW  OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES
	Tracked amendments to CPR 20.01.22 (2)




